Invasive Species Treatment Options: Alternatives to Herbicides





Borealis Consulting, LLC 620 Second St. Suite G, Traverse City MI 49684 Author: Liana May

liananmay@gmail.com

Prepared for:



The Leelanau Conservancy
105 N First St. Leland, Michigan 49654

info@leelanauconservancy.org

Cover Photo: Multiflora rose courtesy of Paul Nelson and the Missouri Department of Conservation.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	4
EARLY DETECTION AND RAPID RESPONSE	4
PRIORITIZING TREATMENT POPULATIONS	4
Integrated Management	
CONSIDERATIONS FOR MECHANICAL CONTROL	5
CONSIDERATIONS FOR PRESCRIBED FIRE	<i>6</i>
CONSIDERATIONS FOR CULTURAL CONTROL AND RESTORATION	<i>6</i>
DISPOSAL OF INVASIVE PLANT PARTS	7
INVASIVE SPECIES PROFILES	g
Tree-of-heaven, Ailanthus altissima (Mill.) Swingle	g
GARLIC MUSTARD, ALLIARIA PETIOLATA (M. BEIB.) CAVARA & GRANDE	11
JAPANESE BARBERRY, BERBERIS THUNBERGII DC.	13
SLENDER FALSE BROME, BRACHYPODIUM SYLVATICUM (HUDS.) P. BEAUV	15
ORIENTAL BITTERSWEET, CELASTRUS ORBICULATUS THUNBTHUNB	16
CANADA THISTLE, CIRSIUM ARVENSE (L.) SCOP	
EUROPEAN SWAMP THISTLE, CIRSIUM PALUSTRE (L.) SCOP	22
AUTUMN-OLIVE, ELAEAGNUS UMBELLATA THUNB.	
JAPANESE KNOTWEED, FALLOPIA JAPONICA (HOUTT.) RONSE DECR. (AND HYBRIDS)	
GLOSSY BUCKTHORN, FRANGULA ALNUS MILL.	28
Blue lyme grass, Leymus arenarius (L.) Hochst	30
COMMON PRIVET, LIGUSTRUM VULGARE L.	
BUSH HONEYSUCKLES, LONICERA SPP.	
Purple loosestrife, Lythrum Salicaria (L.)	
WILD PARSNIP, PASTINACA SATIVA L.	
REED CANARY-GRASS, PHALARIS ARUNDINACEA L	
REED, PHRAGMITES AUSTRALIS SUBSP. AUSTRALIS (CAV.) STEUD.	
COMMON BUCKTHORN, RHAMNUS CATHARTICA L	
MULTIFLORA ROSE, ROSA MULTIFLORA (MURRAY)	
JAPANESE HEDGE-PARSLEY, TORILIS JAPONICA (HOUTT.) DC	47
REFERENCES	49

Introduction

Herbicide application is the most widely used method to treat invasive species because of its relatively low cost and high effectiveness, however there are tradeoffs associated with chemical applications in natural areas. Herbicides can impact non-target plant and animal populations even when used carefully. For this reason, landowners and natural resource professionals often seek alternatives to herbicides for treating invasive species populations. This is particularly desirable in high conservation value natural communities, rare and endangered species habitat, wetlands, near homes where children and pets may frequent, and near sensitive agricultural crops. In some cases, a non-herbicidal treatment is the most effective method of controlling or eradicating an invasive species. Effective treatments depend on invasive species' physiological traits and life history strategies. Plant physiognomy, vegetative and sexual reproduction strategies, seed dispersal vectors, light, water, and nutrient requirements, and the ecology of the treatment area are all important to understand before designing the treatment strategy. We review current literature on local priority invasive species, their traits, management options, and their relative effectiveness and cost. Species are listed in alphabetical order by scientific name following Michigan Flora nomenclature (http://michiganflora.net/home.aspx).

Early Detection and Rapid Response

Prevention is the most important line of defense for invasive species. Land managers should be proactive in tracking movement of new invasive species through the state and country, training on identification of uncommon and emerging invasive species, reducing dispersal pathways such as unnecessary trails and roads, thoroughly cleaning equipment and boots, and revegetating disturbed or degraded areas with native plants.

The second line of defense is Early Detection and Rapid Response (EDRR). In a world of global commerce, species are moving around the world, country, and Michigan at a rapid pace, and there is an amount of vigilance required to prevent future invasive species. As new species or new populations establish, they become increasingly more costly, laborious, or impossible to eradicate, and many well-established invasive species in northern Michigan have become permanent fixtures within our landscape. For this reason, EDRR is the most cost-effective and viable strategy for managing invasive species. EDRR includes education on emerging invasive species, conducting monitoring programs, assessing emerging populations, and a timely implementation of an appropriate control treatment. Although small invasive species populations can seem intuitively to be low priority, careful consideration should be given to their likelihood to spread in the landscape; often prioritizing emerging populations will be the most effective means of long term control.

Prioritizing Treatment Populations

Resources are always the limiting factor when addressing invasive species, making it important to establish priority species and populations. Depending on traits of the target species, the size and density of the population, the location of the population in the landscape, potential

ecological or socio-economic losses, and available resources, populations can be assessed on a case by case basis to prioritize treatments. Generally speaking, populations in high quality natural areas and with high likelihood to for successful eradication or control should be prioritized. This parallels EDRR philosophy of prioritizing emerging species and populations before they become entrenched in the landscape. Seed-source populations are often targeted for species that are readily animal dispersed, because these populations will continually introduce new propagules to satellite areas. Satellite populations should be targeted for species with short dispersal distances in order to contain the population to a smaller, core land area. Species that are well established across the landscape are the most difficult and costly to treat and management programs have a lower success rate. Specific recommendations are given for each species.

Integrated Management

Integrated management is the use of multiple prevention and treatment measures to manage an invasive species population. Integrated management plans are often more successful than choosing a single control measure, and essential for controlling some species and populations. Often specific combinations of treatments are more effective than the treatments applied separately. Recommendations for integrated treatments are included for each species.

Restoration of native plant communities is an essential but often overlooked component of invasive species management. Invasive species are usually opportunists that can quickly populate disturbed landscapes; disturbances from invasive species control measures can often lead to creating niches for returning or new invasive species. By restoring an area with a diversity of native species after treatment greatly increases the resilience of the vegetation community and inhibits the establishment of an invasive species through lowering number of seed germination sites and increased competition for light and water. All management strategies should include a restoration plan. More about restoration is included in the Cultural Controls.

Considerations for Mechanical Control

Mechanical controls include hand-pulling, digging, girdling, tilling, cutting, mowing, or other physical forms of treatment. Physical removal (hand-pulling or digging) is often the most effective form of control for small populations but also is the most labor intensive. The effectiveness of mechanical controls depends on a plant's proclivity towards resprouting from root or stem fragments and root crowns, as well as seed production and dispersal strategies, phenology, and ecological niche. If employing mechanical controls, review plant characteristics and follow all specifications closely (timing, method, frequency, etc). Invasive plants can be easily spread by mechanical methods if they are not prescribed correctly, exasperating an infestation

Helpful tools include a stand-up weeder that can be used to sever a taproot (such as a dandelion tool, \$25), a tree and shrub root-puller such as an "Up-rooter" or "Pullerbear" or similar product (\$150), a brush-cutter (\$100-\$800), a spade shovel, hand pruners (\$30), loppers (\$60), chainsaws (\$300+), and other landscaping tools.

Considerations for Prescribed Fire

Prescribed fire is often used as a tool to control or eradicate unwanted plant species but it must be used with care and in the appropriate natural communities. Although widely known to have beneficial effects on vegetation communities, only certain communities are adapted to fire regimes. Information on the effects of fire on vegetation communities can be found on the USDA Fire Effect Information System (FEIS) website (https://www.feis-crs.org/feis/). The FIES website also publishes fire-tolerance information for many individual species.

Pre-European settlement vegetation maps indicate that Leelanau was primarily forested with mesic northern hardwood forest with pines and rich conifer (northern white-cedar) swamp (Albert and Comer 2008). The fire return interval in northern hardwood forests is between 450 and 3,000 years; the fire return interval for northern pine-hemlock hardwoods is between 151 and 178 years; and the fire return interval for northern white-cedar swamps is between 385 and 1,000 years (USDA 2012). This suggests that there are few natural communities in Leelanau County adapted to fire regimes for invasive species management (repeated annual burns) and many of our native plant species may not be adapted to this type of management. The use of prescribed fire should be carefully evaluated on a site by site basis.

Herpetofauna are very sensitive to fire and the effects are relatively understudied. The current decline in reptiles and amphibians in Michigan has caused concern about the cumulative effects of prescribed fire management. For specific guidelines on amphibian and reptile conservation in prescribed fire management areas visit the Midwest Partners in Amphibian and Reptile Conservation's fire management website at http://mwparc.org/products/fire/plain/.

Prescribed fire is typically applied by a professional consultant using low-heat ground fires. It may also include medium to high heat ground fires for some species' management or use of a propane torch directed flame. The latter method appears to becoming more common in the literature and may be more widely applicable than this paper suggests, especially for treating invasive shrubs that sprout from root crowns. A backpack propane torch costs about \$250 plus fuel costs (Red Dragon brand is commonly used). This treatment is more expensive than ground fires. A permit is required for prescribed fire from the local fire marshal or the DNR.

<u>Considerations for Cultural Control and Restoration</u>

Cultural control is the manipulation of vegetation structure and composition to increase competition with invasive species or reduce the ecological niche that the invasive species need to spread and reproduce. This is a form of ecological restoration, specific in technique and aim focusing on supplanting specific invasive species; technique will vary by treatment site conditions and target invasive plants. Cultural controls are considered critical for long term ecosystem resilience after all invasive plant treatments and can be used as treatment strategy.

Studies show invasive plant species do not significantly out-perform co-occurring native species in many traits such as growth rate, fecundity, and competitive ability (Daehler 2003).

Instead, they have a greater phenotypic plasticity that allows them to adapt to disturbances better than native species, and they typically are more efficient in utilizing high light and nutrients to construct tissues (Daehler 2003). Thus, it is often the abiotic environment that is facilitating the niche and the invasive species is the "passenger," rather than the invasive species "driving" their niche creation (MacDougall and Turkington 2005). It is also important to note, that while disturbances can often lead to the establishment of invasive species, once established some may work towards carving out their niche. This has been demonstrated in populations of allelopathic species who's chemical exudates inhibit interspecific species. Additional factors, such as interactions with herbivores or pests can further suppress native species in an invaded landscape.

Species-specific cultural control regimes are included below where information was available. Common techniques include seeding in native species that will fill similar functional roles to compete with invasives, or increasing tree and shrub cover to shade sun-loving invasive species. Steps to crafting a cultural control plan should include 1) surveying the site and collecting information about the abiotic and biotic conditions, resource concerns, and how it is interconnected with the larger landscape, 2) identify several restoration options/trajectories, considering desirable native species, how the site should be prepared (including pre-treatment of invasive species), and what maintenance will be necessary, and 3) consider ecological, social, economic, and legal implications of the different options such as permits working in wetlands or old field habitat that attracts uncommon birds sought by birders. The Plant Conservation Alliance, with the Bureau for Land Management and the Environmental Protection Agency, has published detailed steps for planning native plant restoration projects, "An introduction to using native plants in restoration projects" prepared by Jeanette Dorner, available https://www.nps.gov/plants/restore/pubs/intronatplant/toc.htm.

It is important to consider that "native species" sold by producers are often not local or Michigan genotypes of the species and in some cases native trees and shrubs are from clone stock or cultivars. Local genotypes perform better in local environmental conditions because the genotypes have been selected for thousands of years for that particular site (McKay et al 2005, Vander Mininsbrugge et al 1997). It has also been suggested that local genotypes are preferred by pollinators and wildlife, though there is little research on this. There is no clear determination of "how local is local" (McKay et al 2005), however it is recommended to use seed from the restoration site unless there is reason to believe low population numbers have lead to low diversity and inbreeding (e.g. isolated small populations of endangered species). A common practice is to collect native seeds or cuttings from the restoration site and having them grown out at a nursery or farm. If that is not possible, native plant material may be obtained from several nurseries in Michigan; make sure to discuss with the producer where the seed comes from, and try to obtain genotypes from Northwestern Lower Michigan. See the Michigan Native Plant Producers Association website http://www.mnppa.org/members.html, the Wildflower Association of Michigan website http://www.wildflowersmich.org, or the local Conservation District for availability of native species.

Disposal of Invasive Plant Parts

All invasive plant parts that are removed during control efforts need to be disposed of in a way that will not aid in further spreading the species. Flower heads, seeds, root fragments, and

stems must be killed or left in a state in which they will not be able to re-grow; flowering heads may continue to mature and produce viable fruit even if the plant has been pulled or cut. The Michigan DNR recommends bagging plant parts in black plastic bags and disposing of the bags in the local land fill. Michigan law permits the disposal of invasive plant parts in this way (MDNR 2012). Plants may also be incinerated.

Invasive Species Profiles

Tree-of-heaven, Ailanthus altissima (Mill.) Swingle

Species Overview

Tree-of-heaven is a tree introduced to North American from China in 1784. It is known for its fast growth and is common in urban landscapes often in abandoned yards, alleys and fencerows. This species is polygamo-dioecious, mostly having male and female flowers on separate trees but it can also produce bisexual flowers. Flowers produce samaras which are wind-dispersed September to October. One tree may produce as many as 325,000 seeds per year (Swearingen and Pannill 2009). Seeds are viable for one year and are not persistent in the seedbank. New seedlings have been noted to flower six months after germination (Feret 1973). Trees also produce root suckers that may sprout up to 50-90 ft away from parent tree and sprout vigorously from cut stumps, roots, and root fragments (Fryer 2010). Seedlings can produce horizontal roots capable of sprouting ramets (Call 2002). Tree-of-heaven is allelopathic and will inhibit interspecific growth.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Control

Effectiveness: Low, not effective long-term control Cost: Moderate (chainsaw \$300+, loppers \$50)

Labor: High Permit: No

Stem cutting can be useful for small populations or temporary control of seed producing trees. Tree-or-heaven responds to cutting by vigorously resprouting suckers which would need to be re-cut in subsequent years. It may take many years of re-cutting to eventually exhaust root reserves (Swearingen and Pannill 2009). Seedlings may be pulled or dug in smaller, targeted areas with care to remove entire root. This should be done in the first three months after germination when the soil is wet (MNFI 2009). Emerging suckers can appear to be seedlings but have long linear roots. Literature suggests mechanical removal is not effective on its own as the tree will continuously resprout from roots (DiTomaso and Kyser 2007, DiTomaso et al 2013, Constan-Nava et al 2010, Swearingen and Pannill 2009).

B. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Varies-High

Cost: Unknown (not commercially available)

Labor: Low-Moderate (stem inoculations)

Permit: Unknown

Tree-of-heaven has many known pests in the native and non-native ranges (Ding et al 2006). There are several insects (weevils, webworms), rust fungi, and native North American pathogens (*Verticillium spp.* wilt) that have all been suggested as future potential biological control agents (Ding et al 2006).

Native *Verticillium spp.* have been found on established tree-of-heaven sites in Ohio, Virginia, New York and Pennsylvania and are being studied for use as a biocontrol (e.g. Harris et al 2013, Kasson et al 2014, Schall and Davis 2009). Laboratory experiments with *Verticillium alba-atrum* have shown 100% mortality of tree-of-heaven but also 100% mortality of striped maple (*Acer pennsylvanica*) (Schall et al 2009). However, field surveys have reported only 1%-3% mortality of striped maple (Schall et al 2009, Kasson et al 2015). In studies of *Verticillium nonalfalfae*, a survey of 71 non-target trees revealed two native species that demonstrate infection: staghorn sumac (*Rhus typhina*) at 16% and devil's walkingstick (*Arailia spinosa*) at 17% incidence (Kasson et al 2015). Methods for formulation and inoculation with *Verticillium nonalfalfae* are underway in Pennsylvania (O'Neil et al 2015). For up-to-date information on this contact the Dr. Kasson or Dr. O'Neal at Department of Plant Pathology and Environmental Microbiology at Pennsylvania State University. It is unclear if this is safe and effective for northwestern Michigan forests.

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Varies by site

Cost: Varies by site Labor: Moderate

Permit: No.

Forested areas that have been invaded with tree-of-heaven can be managed to reduce vigorous growth. Competition with fast-growing native trees such as poplars can slow growth of tree-of-heaven seedlings. These sites should not be heavily harvested unless tree-of-heaven is removed first; scarifying soil and opening the canopy can lead to heavy infestations of this very fast-growing tree (Fryer 2010). In early succession stands and non-forested areas broadcast poplar or other fast-growing tree seeds to compete with tree-of-heaven for resources (Fryer 2010).

Recommendations

All literature recommends use of herbicide to control tree-of-heaven. Mechanical controls can be used as an early-response measure to temporarily destroy the above-ground vegetation and should target seed-producing (female) trees. Prescribed burning is not recommended as trees resprout vigorously (Fryer 2010). Long term control can be achieved by treating all cut stumps including suckers with glyphosate (Constan-Nava et al 2010), or stem or basal bark injections with imazapyr (DiTomaso and Kyser 2007) in late summer or fall. Stump injections are ineffective (DiTomaso and Kyser 2007). Herbicide application, even stump injections, has been

demonstrated to kill 17% of non-target trees within 10 ft of the target tree (Lewis and McCarthy 2008). This is likely because tree-of-heaven exudes herbicide toxins from its roots (Lewis and McCarthy 2008). This is most appropriate for small populations typically seen in Leelanau County. If larger populations are identified, further research may be done into the safe use of the biocontrol *Verticillium spp* wilt.

Garlic mustard, Alliaria petiolata (M. Beib.) Cavara & Grande

Species Overview

Garlic mustard is a forb native to Europe and Asia, first introduced to Michigan in 1956. It is a biennial, forming a rosette in the first year, a flowering stalk in the second year, and then dies after flowering. It has allelopathic properties that inhibit growth of native species; it may also harm mycorrhizae populations that native species utilize for nutrient uptake (Roberts and Anderson 2001). Seeds are expelled from the siliques and can travel 3-4 ft from the parent plant. Seed production is inversely proportionate to density (Evans 2007). Seeds remain viable for 5-10 years in the soil (Evans 2007, Landis and Evans 2016). The population expands by an 'advancing front' from a single plant. Seeds are dispersed by expulsion from the plant and can be lodged in soil and spread by on the shoes and feet of humans or animals, and is also known to hitch a ride on heavy machinery such as logging trucks and skidders. Garlic mustard does not spread vegetatively. It can be found in a variety of disturbed sites; it is shade-tolerant and prefers mesic forests.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: High

Cost: Moderate-High (contractors needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Moderate intensity, early season prescribed fire can effectively reduce garlic mustard populations by killing plants and potentially killing some seed (Nuzzo 1991). Because garlic mustard will break dormancy before native plants, the ideal time to burn is mid April, as soon as garlic mustard emerges and before the spring ephemerals emerge. Follow-up visits in June should remove surviving plants by hand-pulling. Fires should take place annually for 3-4 years at minimum (Evans 2007). Fall fires have had mixed results and may increase garlic mustard spread (Landis and Evans 2016).

B. Mechanical Control

Effectiveness: Moderate-High Cost: Low (weed-wacker \$100)

Labor: High Permit: No Cutting or hand-pulling garlic mustard plants can effectively control garlic mustard if done before seed production each year for a period of ten years. If cutting stems by hand or mowing, stems must be cut at the ground level to effectively reduce seed production from regenerating stems; stems cut 10 cm above the soil will regenerate and produce seeds (Nuzzo 1991). Any cutting or mowing strategy needs to include growing seasonlong monitoring to remove plants regenerating from the root crown. Plants will bolt and produce flowers between April and June and a single cutting event will not control all plants for the entire growing season (Landis and Evans 2016). Cutting stems is generally most practical in a large monoculture with no native vegetation, with successive mowings per year.

Hand-pulling is more effective in preventing regrowth than cutting if it removes the upper portion of the root (Evans 2007). All plants in a population should be pulled in their second year before flowers have formed while soils are moist, to dislodge the root more easily. Rosettes may be pulled in smaller populations. Follow-up monitoring should look for bolting rosettes through June (Landis and Evans 2016). Pulling causes soil disturbances and may encourage seed germination; tamp soil down after pulling. Faster germination of existing garlic mustard seeds in the seedbank may help speed the eventual exhaustion of the seedbank.

Stem and flower biomass must be taken from the site and disposed of in a sanitary way. Even flowers that have not set seeds can continue to grow and seed after the plant has been pulled. Plants that have been piled up can have enough residual moisture and sugars to continue to grow and re-root. Additionally, decomposing garlic mustard biomass will inhibit native plant establishment and growth. Clean all equipment and shoes carefully. Do not park a vehicle near a garlic mustard infestation.

C. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Unknown (in development)

Cost: Not yet available

Labor: Low Permit: Yes

Several potential biological control agents for garlic mustard have been identified and are being tested for release. These include four species of European weevils (*Ceutorhynchus spp*) currently being reared at a high containment facility (Katovich and Becker 2014). For more information contact Richard Reardon (USFS) at rreardon@fs.fed.us.

D. Cultural Controls

Garlic mustard is shade tolerant and in some cases it can invade high-quality natural areas with dense native vegetation (USFS 2016). There is also some evidence that native herbs in Wisconsin are tolerant of it allelopathic effects, and that having a healthy native community can slow the spread of garlic mustard (Phillips-Mao 2012). There is

conflicting information whether restoration activities such as increasing native plant cover will control this species (USFS 2016, Phillips-Mao 2012). There is evidence that white-tailed deer browse inhibits some native species' competitive ability in garlic mustard invaded sites. Deer fencing may help increase percent cover of native forest species and increase competition with garlic mustard (Waller and Maas 2013, Knight et al. 2009). Highly invaded sites may also be restored with browse tolerant or unpalatable native species such as wild ryes (*Elymus hystrix, E. canadensis, E. lanceolatus,* etc) or other grasses.

Recommendations

Successful garlic mustard control requires long term and thorough removal of all plants to eradicate seed sources for a period of at least 5 (to 10) years. A population that has been established for a longer period of time will have a larger seedbank and will keep germinating for more years than a younger population (Drayton and Primack 1999). The site should be monitored for an *additional 3 years after the last garlic mustard plants have been observed* (Nuzzo 1991).

Hand-pulling all garlic mustard plants annually is the most effective means of control. Pull in the spring before flowering and follow-up in about a month to look for bolting rosettes. Mow large monocultures if they are too large to hand-pull, however, monitor regrowth. Rapid response to small infestations before the seed bank develops is critical. These can be hand-pulled easily and monitored for five years. Large infestations should be replanted with native species that are tolerant to deer browse to complete with emerging seedlings. Continue to watch for development of the garlic mustard biological control weevil.

Japanese barberry, Berberis thunbergii DC.

Species Overview

Japanese barberry is a perennial shrub native to Asia, first collected in Michigan in 1909. Barberry flowers in April and May, and fruits ripen midsummer and are dispersed by deer and birds. Seeds are only viable for 1-2 years suggesting barberry does not persist in the seedbank (MDNR 2012). In addition to seeds, Japanese barberry regenerates through rhizome and root crown sprouts and from root fragments. Japanese barberry is also widely used in ornamental landscapes and has been spread widely by humans. It can tolerate full sun and full shade and is widely adaptable to wet or dry soil. Barberry will leaf out before native shrubs making easy to identify in the early spring. Japanese barberry has been correlated to high deer tick presence (MDNR 2012).

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Control

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: Low (gloves \$10, stand-up weeder such as "Up-rooter" \$150)

Labor: High

Permit: No

Cutting stems is the least effective method of barberry control. The shrub will vigorously resprout from the root crown and must be re-cut throughout the growing season and in follow-up years to exhaust root reserves. Mowing can be practical for large monocultures if done several times throughout the growing season; these areas should be monitored for native species regeneration and re-seeded if necessary. Individuals regrowing with native species may then be hand-pulled.

Hand pulling is the best way to control small and scattered populations of barberry because it has a shallow root system, but care must be taken to remove all of the rhizomes, or treat re-sprouts (Ward et al 2013a). Pull plants in the early spring when they first leaf out and the soil is moist. Gloves are needed for protection against spines and a stand-up weeding tool that grasps the stem can decrease the labor of bending over and pulling. Check from re-growth from root fragments later in the growing season and in the next year and pull any remaining plants. Dispose of all plant materials with seeds or roots.

B. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: High (contractor needed, back-pack mounted propane torches, \$250 plus propane)

Labor: High Permit: Yes

Prescribed burns using ground-fires have low effectiveness and often do not kill adult shrubs (MDNR 2012), however directed flame is an effective method of treatment. This uses a propane torch at 40,000 BTUs to burn the base of the shrub and the root crown, killing all basal buds. Heat should be applied for 10-20 seconds to each side of the plant, until stems begin to glow (Ward et al 2013a). It should only be used during damp periods when a ground fire will not be ignited. This is most best applied in forested areas with scattered clumps of barberry; it seems to be less effective in open areas (Ward et al 2013a). Monitor for re-emerging sprouts and re-treat.

This has been demonstrated to be as effective as herbicide for initial treatments: 20-60% kill rate depending on clump size (Ward et al 2010). In follow-up treatments, directed fire decreased in effectiveness with increasing clump size moreso than herbicide; two follow-up treatments should be planned where the average clump size is larger than 150 cm (Ward et al 2010). A study by Ward et al in 2013 (b) cited that labor costs of directed flame method to be four times higher than that of herbicide.

A permit must me acquired from the local fire department or the Michigan DNR.

Recommendations

Target mature shrubs with the most seeds (high light areas) in the highest quality natural areas by hand-pulling or applying a directed flame from a propane torch. For most small or

scattered populations hand pulling is more cost-effective than burning. Large infestations and monocultures may be mowed if practical. All treatments will require follow-up visits to hand-pull or burn root ramets, preferably mid-season. Hand pulling and burning is comparable to herbicide in effectiveness, though hand pulling is more labor intensive and burning with directed propane flame is more costly.

Slender false brome, *Brachypodium sylvaticum* (Huds.) P. Beauv.

Species Overview

Slender false brome is an Eurasian perennial grass first found in Michigan in 1986 in Benzie Co. (Esch Rd.), and has since spread north into Leelanau Co. between Empire and Glen Arbor. These are the only populations known to Michigan and of few populations in the eastern U.S. This grass spreads by rhizome and by seed, creating dense monocultures in forested areas, out-competing native plants. Flowering begins in July during the second year of growth and around 100 seeds per plant are dispersed in August. Seeds are mammal-dispersed and can travel significant distances on fur and socks, making it commonly dispersed in recreational areas (Heinken and Raudnitschka 2002). It has also been shown to dispersed by logging equipment (Boersma et al 2006). When near water, seeds are dispersed by currents. It is unclear how long the seeds persist in the seedbank. Individual plants are long-lived (>20 years) (Haeggstrom and Skyten 1996). False brome is shade and sun tolerant, and tends to invade forests and woodlands.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Moderate (contractors needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

A 2014 study that investigated the effectiveness of prescribed burns in Oregon and found that hot summer burns did not significantly reduce false brome, and that late-season low temperature burns may increase false brome cover (Fjeran 2014). A different study found that low-intensity fires increase spread of false brome, while high-intensity fires decreased cover and spread (Poulos and Roy 2015). False brome can resprout vigorously after fire if it is not killed.

A permit is needed from the DNR or the local fire marshal for prescribed fires.

B. Mechanical Control

Effectiveness: Moderate-High

Cost: Low-High (hot foam Waipuna equipment rental \$700/mo + \$900/200 L foam)

Labor: High Permit: No Hand-pulling is effective if the entire root is removed and plants are pulled before they go to seed. May is generally a good time to start hand-pulling because soils are loose. Areas typically should be monitored and re-treated for 2-3 years. This may only be practical for small populations.

Mowing can help reduce seed-set if it is timed when plants begin to flower, but it will not kill the perennial grasses. If plants are mowed in seed, it will lead to the dispersal and spread of false brome. Mowing in April-June followed by mulching with 3-6 cm of native straw and seeding can effectively reduce grass populations after one to two years but will not likely eliminate a population.

A new method of treatment applies hot foam to the grasses. The hot foam treatment system, trademarked "Waipuna," is a 200°F non-toxic water and sugar mixture that is spayed from a truck-bed tank that super-heats plants and kills them over about four hours. This was used in 2002 by the Eugene BLM to treat roadside populations and resulted in an 88% reduction in grass percent cover after one year. Studies suggest two years of application are needed for effective control. This was found to be practical for roadside applications but expensive as compared to other mechanical and chemical controls. See http://www.invasive.org/gist/tools/hotfoam.html for more information on the WaipunaTM machine.

Recommendations

Prevention of spread is critical in control efforts of false brome. Machinery, clothing, and equipment should be thoroughly cleaned after use in a false brome infested area. Where established, a combination of treatments is recommended. Herbicide application has been the most widely used and effective method of control, as mowing and burning have not been successful, and hand-pulling is too laborious for large populations. An integrated treatment such as (1) early season physical removal (i.e. high heat fires, mowing, or hot foam) followed by (2) mulching with 3" of native straw for the course of the growing season, then (3) fall planting of native grasses can be successful at significantly reducing populations after one to two years of treatment (see Institute of Applied Ecology False-brome Working Group control methods table: http://appliedeco.org/wp-content/uploads/efficacy-of-false-brome-may2007-draft.pdf).

Oriental bittersweet, Celastrus orbiculatus Thunb.

Species Overview

Oriental bittersweet is a perennial woody vine native to Asia and was first collected in Michigan in 1976. This vine may grow to 100 ft long and climb to the height of tree canopies, smothering and girdling trees, and also forms an extensive root system which contributes to clonal/vegetative reproduction. It is highly responsive to sunlight, and it will rapidly grow towards light gaps and thrives in full sun. Oriental bittersweet is typically dioecious, with male and female flowers on separate plants but can have perfect flowers within an inflorescence, thus male plants can produce fruit. Fruit production begins at two years of age, and is highest in full

sun on female plants. Fruit is dispersed by birds and small mammals in late winter, and has been shown to remain in the gut of birds for as much as 42 days (MDNR 2012) thus can be dispersed significant distances and even along migratory routes. Seeds can germinate and persist in very low light levels in wait for canopy gaps. Most seeds germinate within the first year in late spring, and the seedbank is short-lived. Plants are cultivated for ornamental landscapes and are widely dispersed by humans. Habitat is grasslands, woodlands, closed-canopy forests, roadsides and fence rows. It cannot successfully establish in wetland soils.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Prescribed fire is effective in killing above ground portions of plants but will not destroy the large root system, which will resprout after fire (MNFI 2009). Killing the above-ground portion of the vine is an important step in management, and aids in control of seed production and dispersal. Burning can stimulate the seed bank and may result in new bittersweet seed germination (MNFI 2009). Burning also clears away shrubs and understory plants that may be shading bittersweet. In a study published in 2016, bittersweet resprouted more vigorously on burned sites than mechanically-cut sites (Pavlovic et al 2016). This study concluded that bittersweet has a positive response to burns that increases the number of stems and opportunities for growth to the forest canopy (Pavlovic et al 2016). Caution must be taken to avoid Oriental bittersweet vines acting as a ladder, carrying fire up to the tree canopy (MDNR 2012).

A burn permit issued by the local fire department or the DNR is required.

B. Mechanical Control

Effectiveness: Moderate (short term control) Cost: Low (pruning shears \$30, shovel)

Labor: High Permit: No

Cutting stems is an effective and important method for killing above-ground portions of the vines that may be damaging native shrubs and trees (MDNR 2012). It is also important for the destruction of seed source populations. A "window cut" method should be used: vines cut at the base of the plant and several feet above the base so that stems cannot grow back together. The above-ground portion may be left in place to decompose.

Cutting will stimulate resprouting and, even if cut multiple times per year, will not kill the vine or lead to effective long term control (MDNR 2012), however it will temporarily result in a 50% reduction of non-structural carbohydrates (sugars used for growth)

(Pavlovic et al 2016). Weekly repeated mowing or cutting may eventually exhaust root reserves however there is no evidence of its effectiveness. In one study, mechanical control alone was shown to reduce bittersweet cover more than herbicide use alone, however, the combination of the two methods reduced cover significantly more than either used alone (Farmer et al 2016).

Treatment of the root system is vital to controlling the vine. Hand-pulling or digging the root can be difficult because of the large size and the often multiple stems arising along the length of the roots. Pull stems slowly to avoid breaking the root and tamp down soil afterwards (MDNR 2012). If portions of the roots are left in the soil, the plant will regrow. Young plants may not be seedlings but rather root-sprouts from a large plant.

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Varies Labor: Varies Permit: No

Oriental bittersweet prefers full sun, but it appears to be extremely plastic in light requirements and can grow in very low light more efficiently than its native counterpart *Celastrus scandens* (Leicht and Silander 2006). For this reason, it can invade even high-quality, intact natural communities and restoration and shading is not an effective long term control. Limiting exposed soils to seed sources can help to decrease germination rates (MDNR 2012).

Oriental bittersweet is allelopathic and can affect germination and growth of interspecific species. In a greenhouse experiment *Celastrus orbiculatus* was shown to inhibit growth of *Elymus hystrix*, a native grass, more than garlic mustard, a plant typically cited for allelopathic strength (Cipollini and Bohrer 2016). This may have implications for restoration activities on bittersweet-affected soil.

Recommendations

Since seeds can be dispersed long distances, a landscape approach is necessary. Control measures should focus on eradicating seed-source populations. Begin by understanding distribution of this species in the area, then target seed source populations. It is also important to target smaller populations in high-quality natural areas.

Cutting is an effective and important short-term control, especially for large plants that produce a large seed crop. However, because of the extensive root system, and its propensity to sprout from the root collar and root fragments, mechanical controls are not effective long-term methods. Controlled burning is not recommended as it clears soil for new seed sites and stimulates root sprouts.

Mechanical control in combination with herbicide (triclopyr or glyphosate) is the most effective methods of control (MNFI 2009, MDNR 2012, Swearingen 2009, Wooten 2013). The

MDNR recommends treating cut stems with a concentrated herbicide solution, while a study on Presque Isle found cutting stems then spraying with a foliar herbicide on re-growth 5 weeks after cutting was more effective then immediately treating cut stems (Wooten 2013).

Canada thistle, Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop.

Species Overview

Circium arvense (Asteraceae), Canada thistle, is a perennial forb introduced from Europe as early as the 1600s (MNFI 2009). The height ranges from 0.6-1.5 m tall and can form large monocultures spreading through seed and deeply-rooting, laterally-spreading rhizomes. The root system can spread laterally 2-3 meters per season per plant, and is a key component of its invasive habit via competition and allelopathy (Gover et al 2007). Plants are dioecious with separate male and female patches; a patch is often a single, multi-stemmed clone. It blooms June through September, and produced small seeds with hairy tufts that facilitate wind dispersal. Each plant can produce 1500-5000 seeds which can germinate 8-10 days after flowering begins and persist in the seed bank for up to 20 years (MNFI 2009). The ecological niche is disturbed open areas, roadsides, agricultural fields, and may invade prairies and open wetlands. It is shade-intolerant (MNFI 2009).

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Prescribed fire has had mixed results in controlling Canada thistle. The Missouri Department of Conservation (2017) found that late spring burns are effective treatment for a single year because they remove above-ground biomass, but early spring burns can increase sprouting and reproduction, and that burns must be conducted annually for at least three years to have long-term decreases (not eradication). In North Dakota, studies have suggested that burning can lead to short term increases in Canada thistle, then a decrease over several years (Travnicek at al 2005), and, that burning in prairies has no significant long term effect on Canada thistle (Lym and Travnicek 2015). The Michigan Natural Features Inventory (MNFI) concluded that burns can lead to the stimulation of this species causing post-burn spread by rhizomes and are not recommended (MNFI 2009).

A burn permit issued by the local fire department or the DNR is required.

B. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: Low (pruning shears \$30)

Labor: High Permit: No

Mechanical control can be successful at eliminating Canada. This approach removes above-ground biomass in order to exhaust the root system of starch reserves. The root system will decrease in size and eventually die. This process requires sustained removal of above-ground biomass by multiple treatments per year over multiple years (Gover et al 2007). If the above-ground leaves and stems are allowed to grow and photosynthesize, they will replenish root starch reserves. This can take 10 years of repeated mechanical above-ground removal (MNFI 2009). Cutting or pulling must take place three times per season (in June, August, and September) in order to starve underground parts (MDC 2017). Just before fall is the most important time to maximize injury to the root system because it will be moving sugars to the roots to prepare for the next growing season (Gover et al 2007). Late spring (bud to early bloom stage) is the second most important time for biomass removal because the energy that was stored in the roots has been sent above-ground for reproduction, causing a seasonal-low in stored root energy (Gover et al 2007).

Mechanical treatment is feasible for light to moderate infestations. MNFI (2009) recommends beginning control in the highest quality areas, pulling seedlings by hand within 2.5 weeks of germination. For highly-infested areas, mowing can be used in alternative to hand-pulling, however it may remove desirable native species. It is important to note that all root fragments can sprout new plants; for that reason removal of the root is not recommended as it disturbs upper soil layers, creating new establishment sites and it can be too difficult to remove all root parts.

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate-High (long-term resilience)

Cost: Moderate (varies)

Labor: High Permit: No

Because this plant is shade-intolerant, ecological controls include facilitating rapid canopy closure by trees, shrubs, or tall, fast-growing herbaceous plants in order to outcompete Canada thistle for light (Ross). This species cannot establish well in heavily vegetated natural communities or shaded areas (MDC 2017).

Additionally, encouraging establishment and growth of functionally similar native species has been shown to decrease establishment of Canada thistle by interspecific below-ground competition for resources. In a prairie restoration study by Norland et al (2013), common yarrow (*Achillea millefolium*), black-eyed Susan (*Rudbeckia hirta*), and prairie coneflower (*Ratibida columnifera*) were found to have appropriate functional similarities to provide adequate competition so to significantly reduce Canada thistle's canopy cover after two years of growth.

Control efforts may take advantage of the diecious and clonal habit. If resources are limited, eradication could focus on female clones (identified in flower), as male clones do not produce seed.

D. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Unknown

Cost: Low (\$0-\$200 per target population)

Labor: Low to Moderate

Permit: No

There are several biological controls that have been approved for Canada thistle, however none have been shown to be effective at reducing populations on a large scale. The most widespread agent is the *Hadroplontus litura* weevil which feeds on the root system. These alone have not been shown to reduce populations in North Dakota (Lym and Travnicek 2015). Similarly, the gall-fly *Urophora cardui* causes meristematic galls with no long term damage (Lym and Travnicek 2015). A release of these insects to one area costs between \$100-\$200 (Biological Control of Weeds, Inc 2017).

The native painted lady butterfly, *Vanessa cardui*, caterpillar feeds extensively on Canada thistle and can reduce populations dramatically (Lym and Travnicek 2015). However, this is generally only found in southern states such as Arizona and New Mexico, with intermittent migrations as far north as Canada once every 8-11 years. It is also known to feed on soybeans and sunflower crops and therefore is typically not considered appropriate for introduction (Lym and Travnicek 2015).

The native pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tagetis* can kill Canada thistle by releasing a toxin within the phloem, however commercial cultivation and production has been unsuccessful precluding it from becoming a treatment option (Lym and Travnicek 2015).

The rust fungus *Puccinia punctiformis* was first recognized as a potential biocontrol agent as early as 1893, however disease establishment has been largely unsuccessful due to an incomplete knowledge of the disease cycle (Berner et al 2013). It occurs naturally across the range of Canada thistle and is host-specific (CDOA 2017). Recent studies suggest imitating natural disease cycles can successfully establish the rust fungus and have successfully inoculated fall rosettes in four counties' field sites (Berner et al 2013). A 2015 study found that 50-60% of rosettes adjacent to inoculation points become infected, and shoot densities decreased by 43% after 18 months, 60% after 30 months, and 80% after 42 months (Berner et al 2015). There is an available online guide prepared by Dr. Berner with detailed instructions for the treatment process: identify infected thistles, collect *P. punctiformis* infected leaves, dry leaves, and re-inoculate target populations in the fall with the dried leaf powder (see www.canadathistlecontrol.com). The rust fungus primarily attacks the roots, and can often be asymptomatic throughout its lifecycle on the above-ground portion of the plant, making it difficult to detect successfully inoculated populations. Field trials in Colorado have demonstrated significant die-back 3-4 years after inoculation (CDOA 2017).

Recommendations

The most effective traditional form of control removes the above-ground biomass of the plant repeatedly through the season without disturbing soil, and is repeated for multiple seasons (via mechanical control). The use of herbicide to remove the above-ground biomass is functionally similar to mechanical removal of the biomass; both techniques kill plants through starving root reserves. The major difference between the two techniques is that fall season transport of herbicides to the rhizomes of the Canada thistle helps further reduce root mass. If mechanical and herbicide methods were to be combined, mechanical removal would take place in June and August, followed by an herbicide treatment in September while the plant is transporting sugars to its root. Because seeds have a 20-year life in the seedbank, repeated follow-up visits are needed to monitor for seedlings. Seedlings should be pulled within 2.5 weeks of germination (MNFI 2009).

Both herbicide and mechanical removal involves a site visit 3 times per year and attention to each individual stem, they are estimated to take comparable amount of time. Mechanical removal will involve removal of cut stems, collection, and disposal of in an appropriate manner. Supplies and equipments costs are low (pruners, black plastic bags), but labor costs are high, depending on degree of infestation and navigability of the site. It will avoid herbicide-related costs including back-pack sprayers, maintenance of sprayers, and herbicide safety training. This is recommended for spot-treatment of populations, and widespread occasional individuals.

Ecological control is a preferred method in both long-term control and prevention. Canada thistle is an early succession species that establishes on disturbed soils, so it is important to avoid creating disturbances. Rapidly establishing native plants that have similar functional traits, as well as shading plants such as tall herbs, shrubs, and trees, will serve both long-term control and prevention. Restoration costs can vary widely based on project and tend to be high in the short term and low in the long term. Costs include the prices of plants or seeds used in the restoration project, labor to prepare the soil and install the plants, and labor for follow-up visits to monitor and remove Canada thistle and other undesirable plants.

Biological control using *Puccinia punctiformis* represents an emerging area of research, but initial accounts appear promising as a component of an integrated pest management strategy. The spread and inoculation process could be incorporated into field visits while performing mechanical control, as thistle biomass will be collected anyways. Success of this treatment may not be visually measurable for several years as it can be asymptomatic above ground, therefore it should be combined with mechanical control to control seed production and spread. It is unclear if this is as effective in combination with mechanical control.

European swamp thistle, Cirsium palustre (L.) Scop.

Species Overview

European swamp thistle is a herbaceous biennial or monocarpic perennial native to the British Isle and was first reported in North America in the early 1900s. Its current distribution in North America is the Great lakes region. Monocarpic perennials generally flower within two years (biennial) but may take longer. First year plants grow a rosette of leaves; the rosette stage

can last as much as 3 (to 6) years. Second year plants (up to fourth year plants) grow an erect, 3-6 ft tall stem that forms several small flower heads. Each plant can produce as much as 2,000 seeds. Seeds are small with a pappus to allow for wind dispersal up to 250 m, though most seeds are dispersed to within 10 m of the parent plant (Gucker 2009). Seeds can also be dispersed by water run-off, humans and animals, and hundreds of miles on equipment. Seeds do not last more than 3 years in the seed bank; most seeds germinate during the first year (Gucker 2009). All plants will die after flowering, however if the flowering stem is damaged, it may regrow in the same or next growing season (Gucker 2009). It prefers moist soils and is shade-tolerant. Habitat preference include roadsides, wet old fields, fens, marshes, swamps, and interdunal wetlands (MNFI 2009). It appears to be an early and mid-succession species in North America (Gucker 2009).

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: High

Cost: Low (stand-up dandelion-style weed puller, \$15)

Labor: High Permit: No

First-year rosettes can be hand dug or pulled, making sure to remove root or cut it a few inches below the rosette to fully kill the plant (GLIFWC 2006). Plants that have sent up a flowering stem can be controlled in the same way as the rosettes, preferably before the formation of the flowers so that biomass can be left on site. If a flowering head has formed, the flowers must be bagged and disposed of off-site in a sanitary manner.

Mowing, or removal of the flowering stem without removal of the root can be successful, though this must be repeated for 3-4 years for each plant. If the root is not severed to kill the plant, it will send up a new flowering shoot after the original one is cut; thus it biennial duration can be extended for as much as six years with continued mowing or stem-cutting (WDNR 2004). The new shoot may be sent up in the same year after cutting or the following year, and tends to produce more seed than undisturbed plants (Nordin 2002).

B. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Low (\$15-\$150 when available)

Labor: Low Permit: No

Several insects are known to feed on marsh thistle, however none have emerged as an effective biological control. For instance, the *Cheilosia corydon* fly was released in 1991 in Oregon for thistle control but it has attacked native and exotic thistles alike (ODA 2011). This is not an acceptable trait of a biocontrol, especially in coastal Michigan where endangered endemic Pitcher's thistle occur. The weevil *Rhinocyllus conicus* has

been undergoing field trials in British Columbia (Cao et al 2012), however previous work has demonstrated a lack of host-specificity and may feed on other thistles (Arnett and Louda 2002).

C. Herbivory

Effectiveness: Moderate (non-target species impacted)

Cost: Unknown Labor: Low Permit: No

Goats have been suggested as a control for swamp thistle because they are attracted to the flowering head and less than 1% of seeds are viable after digestion, making it unlikely they would disperse seeds (Cao et al 2012). However, goats do not selectively feed on marsh thistle, and they can cause other damage to native plants including trampling and exposing new seed sites (Fraser 2000). This approach would only be appropriate for dense monocultures.

D. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate (preventative)

Cost: Varies Labor: Varies Permit: No

The best practice for controlling marsh thistle at a state-wide level is the prevention and spread of new populations by avoiding disturbing wetland soils. In particular, avoid building roads and trails in wild wetland areas because the combination of the disturbance and the vector leads to the establishment of new populations.

Recommendations

There is relatively little information available on marsh thistle control beyond mechanical control and herbicide use. However, mechanical controls appear to be highly effective, particularly when the root is severed. Most control programs recommend cutting off just the flowering heads, however this would be more time consuming in controlling the population than severing the taproot, because *each plant* would need to be re-cut for 3-4 years to kill it. If severing the taproot, each plant would only be treated once. Severing the taproot is as effective and time consuming as herbicide application, but costs less. Sites need to be monitored for 3-4 years, treating new seedlings as they emerge from the seedbank. Seeds are viable for three years in the seedbank, so if all individuals are treated in a population for three years the infestation should be properly controlled.

Autumn-olive, Elaeagnus umbellata Thunb.

Species Overview

Autumn-olive is an Asian shrub that was first collected in Michigan in 1939. Humans were initially the primary vectors, planting this shrub widely for wildlife habitat. It produces a large number of small, sweet berries in September and October that are dispersed widely by birds and mammals. It can also resprout vigorously from root crown after cutting or fire (MNFI 2012). Plants may bear fruit by three years of age, and are able to produce up to about 50,000 seeds per year with germination rates around 70%. Seeds typically germinate within the first year and are not thought to remain in the seed bank for very long. Seed-source populations outside management areas will cause repeated invasions. Autumn-olive prefers full sun and moist soils, but will persist and produce a small amount of seed in full shade and upland areas.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Low (stand-up weeder such as "Up-rooter" \$150)

Labor: High Permit: No

Mechanical control can be useful for small infestations and young plants. Hand-pulling or digging can effectively control seedlings and young plants that have not yet grown a large root system (MNFI 2012). Target early stage invasions with thorough hand-pulling and digging. Roots are easiest to remove when soils are moist. Tamp soils after any disturbance. A stand-up weeding tool can be a helpful tool to remove clumps.

Cutting and mowing stimulates fast resprouting from the root crown (MNFI 2012, Solecki 1997). In areas where repeated cutting and mowing is practical, such as old fields, it may be done repeatedly throughout the growing season to slow spread and reproduction capacity, but has not been demonstrated to kill plants (Solecki 1997). Cutting and mowing is most frequently done in combination with herbicide application, which together is effective in killing the plant.

B. Herbivory

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: Unknown Labor: Moderate

Permit: No

Goats and sheep will eat autumn-olive readily, killing the shrubs by debarking the stems and defoliating the branches (MNFI 2012). Multiple seasons of browsing are needed to eventually kill the shrubs (MNFI 2012). Goat and sheep are not selective and will also browse native species, therefore this is most practical by fencing them into areas with a low native species diversity and a high abundance of autumn olive.

Contact the Grand Traverse Regional Land Conservancy on their experience using goats

to address invasive species concerns.

C. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Low Labor: High Permit: Yes

Prescribed burns can be used to kill the aboveground potions of autumn-olive if there is enough fuel to generate adequate heat. This is most effective for seedlings and large shrubs: Subsequent burns (1-3) that ignite and fully burn dead stems may generate enough heat to kill the root crown of large shrubs (MNFI 2012). This can be less effective for small plants that do not have enough aboveground biomass to generate sufficient heat (MNFI 2012). If the heat of the fire is not sufficient to kill the root crown, burns will be ineffective and shrubs will regrow and can potentially increase in size and vigor (Stark 2000). There is some evidence that hot fires (>300-500°C) do not kill autumn olive seeds (Emery et al 2011), and exposing soil may create good seed sites for germination. It should be noted there are no published studies on the effectiveness of fire and temperatures necessary for killing autumn-olive.

Recommendations

Successful long-term treatment is approached at a landscape level because of the propensity for spread by bird and mammal dispersal, and the large regional populations already present. Large, sun-grown plants that produce the most seed should be targeted first, particularly populations near in or near high-quality natural areas. If seed source populations are not removed, satellite populations will continuously establish.

Repeated high-heat controlled burns for several years may be practical for dense patches in fire-adapted communities and areas of low conservation value such as old fields. It is important that there is enough fuel to burn the root crowns sufficiently. Directed flame by propane torch on the root crown (as used for Japanese barberry) could be a new technique for autumn-olive, and theoretically may be quite effective. These treatments are only effective if pursued aggressively and combined with monitoring and follow-up treatments, as autumn-olive resprouts vigorously and this may initiate new seedlings. These techniques are likely to be more costly and laborious than cut-stem herbicide applications because of their moderate effectiveness and need for repeated applications.

Populations in high-quality natural areas should be treated by hand-pulling or digging as possible. If clumps are too large or widespread to remove all the roots within high-quality areas, cutting stems can be a temporary stop-gap measure. Successful control may need to combine cut stem treatment and herbicide application to kill the roots. If this method is chosen, treatments in late summer are most effective.

Japanese Knotweed, Fallopia japonica (Houtt.) Ronse Decr. (and hybrids)

Species Overview

A perennial forb originating from Japan, Japanese knotweed was first recorded in Michigan in 1919. It grows robust stems in dense thickets, primarily spreading vegetatively by rhizome but also forms a deep taproot. Stem and root fragments form new plants readily are thought to be the primary method of reproduction. Populations of Japanese knotweed across Europe and at least some of those in the U.S. are of an identical female clone, and often a fertile male plant is not present to set viable seed (Hollingsworth and Bailey 2000, Gaskin et al 2014). One study has demonstrated that all Japanese knotweed in the western U.S. is genetically identical and spread only vegetatively, and that all fertile seed-bearing knotweeds are hybrids between Japanese knotweed and giant knapweed (Fallopia sachalinensis), named Bohemian knotweed (Fallopia x bohemica) (Gaskin et al 2014). Other studies have suggested that there are male clones of Japanese knotweed fertilizing the widespread female clone (Groeneveld et al 2014). Studies in Massachusetts and Quebec identified Japanese knotweed producing viable seed which was observed germinating at several field sites (Forman and Kesseli 2002, Groeneveld et al 2014). Seeds and vegetative fragments are dispersed by wind, water, and humans. It can tolerate a variety of soil and light conditions, but it prefers moist conditions and is often found along riverbanks, wet depressions, forest edges, and roadsides.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate-High (loppers \$50, brush-cutter \$150, or brush mower)

Labor: High Permit: No

Hand-pulling and digging is inefficient because of the extensive and deep root system. Damaged roots will re-sprout vigorously and can be "disastrous" (MNFI 2012). Digging may be appropriate for very small populations. Roots may persist underground without sprouting for three years, so four years of monitoring is recommended.

Cutting removes aboveground biomass but may stimulate the underground rhizome causing further spread and growth. MNFI does not recommend cutting as a form of control because any stem or root fragments can be transported, root at the node, and spread the infestation. One study observed repeated cutting reduces rhizome growth significantly, and found four cuts per season causes a net depletion in belowground biomass (e.g. Seiger and Merchant 1997). Other literature recommends that if you must cut stems, cut every 2-3 weeks during the growing season (Soll 2004).

Cutting is most efficient where brush-cutters or lawn mowers can be used. Cut in early summer, mid-summer, late summer, and fall to reduce rhizome size. If resources are limited to one cut per season, cut in June. If herbicides are to be used in combination with cutting, cut in late August. The risks of spreading Japanese knotweed by fragmentation

may outweigh the benefits of mechanical treatments (MNFI 2012). Most literature recommends cutting only in combination with herbicide application.

B. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate-High

Cost: Unknown (not yet available for use in U.S.)

Labor: Low Permit: Unknown

A species of psyllid, *Aphalara itadori*, has been tested in extensively in Britain as a biological control agent, and was released in 2010 for field testing. Studies in the U.S. have demonstrated a 50% reduction in total plant biomass in 50 days (Grevstad et al 2013). This has not yet been released in the U.S. (MNFI 2012) though some publications state the release is "imminent" (Clements et al 2016).

A secondary biological control agent, a leaf-spot pathogen (Mycosphaerella polygonicuspidati) from Japan, is being tested for field release in the U.K.

Recommendations

Local populations of Japanese knotweed should be assessed for fertile seed production and hybridization with giant knotweed or backcrosses with Bohemian knotweed. Current research suggests that hybrid Bohemian knotweed is much more common than Japanese knotweed, and that many populations are misidentified. Accurate assessment of species and seed viability is necessary in crafting the best management practices.

Most management strategies point to the necessity of herbicide for controlling Japanese knotweed. While mechanical controls may be useful for controlling very small populations, it can be ineffective and even lead to spreading large infestations. There is little information available on prescribed fire, and DNR suggests that it is not effective. The best practice for controlling large populations combines cutting stems and herbicide application. Mow or cut stems in early June, then apply herbicide to re-growth six weeks later (Gover et al 2005). Imazapyr is most effective because it is active in the soil for an extended period (MNFI 2012). Glyphosate is most commonly recommended but there is some evidence of glyphosate resistance (Gaskin et al 2014).

Glossy buckthorn, Frangula alnus Mill.

Species Overview

Glossy buckthorn is a Eurasia shrub first collected in Michigan in 1934. As most non-native invasives, it is associated with disturbed habitats such as roadside ditches, powerline cuts, and disturbed wet forests, but it also spreads aggressively into high conservation-value natural communities such as fens, bogs, wet prairies, and northern white-cedar and tamarack forests. It prefers wet, calcareous soils. Shrubs (single or multi-stemmed) reproduce from seed production

and root crown sprouts following top kill. Adult shrubs flower in early summer and produce 500-1,500 viable seeds per year (Medan 1994), with the most seed produced on shrubs in full sun. Birds are the primary dispersal agents, though mammal, gravity, and water dispersal is also likely. Seeds are thought to be viable for 2-7 years (Gucker 2008).

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: Moderate (contractors needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Evidence suggests fire can damage and suppress glossy buckthorn for several years, decreasing number of stems and canopy cover (Catling et al 2002, Neuman and Dickmann 2001). Fire will not effectively control adult shrubs unless burns are repeated for 5-6 years, killing all root crowns and seedlings (Heidorn 1991, Solecki 1997). Damaged root crowns have been noted to resprout vigorously and new growth may go to seed in the same year as it was burned. Fire is most effective when done in the early spring as soon as leaves emerge and needs to have medium to hot temperatures. A five-second treatment by a propane torch on stems less than 4.5 cm diameter will kill young plants (MNFI 2012).

A burn permit from the local fire marshal or DNR is required.

B. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Low (shovel, loppers \$50, stand-up weeder \$150)

Labor: High Permit: Yes

Hand-pulling and digging can be useful for controlling small populations of glossy buckthorn shrubs that are smaller than 4" in diameter. Remove as much of the root system as possible, and always tamp soil and replace leaf litter.

In several studies, stems were either cut or mowed during the growing season leading to an increase in native species cover in the first year, but buckthorn resprouted densely in following years leading to no significant long-term changes (Clark and Mattrick 1998, Sinclair and Catling 1999). Mid-season cutting (July) has been shown to produce the weakest re-sprouts (MBWSR 2015). Girdling can also be substituted for cutting stems but root crowns will re-sprout immediately. Glossy buckthorn has been noted to grow as much as six feet and fruit in the first year after cutting, limiting the usefulness of cutting without combining with other treatments. The NRCS recommends covering small root crowns with a coffee can for two years after cutting to contain sprouts and kill the root.

Recommendations

Satellite populations and those in high-quality natural areas should be targeted first. Seed production and dispersal from core populations is also critical in reducing re-introduction to satellite areas. Remove as many sun-growing adult shrubs as possible initially, followed by annual seedling and small shrub treatments. Treat small populations by hand-pulling and digging shrubs, targeting seed-producing shrubs first. A combination of cutting stems and prescribed burning may be effective at killing glossy buckthorn if the fire is able to burn hot enough (Laatsch and Anderson 2000). In Minnesota, some success has been had by cutting stems in July followed by burning new sprouts in April (MBSWR 2015).

Control methods that disturb the soil and open the canopy tend to invigorate seedling germination and can lead to monocultures of buckthorn seedlings. After cutting and fire, seeding with native species has been shown to significantly reduce glossy buckthorn seedling numbers (Scrivner and Leach 1998) and can also help build a fuel load for future prescribed burns (MBSWR 2015). If high-heat fires are not an option, herbicide may need to be used to treat glossy buckthorn.

Blue lyme grass, Leymus arenarius (L.) Hochst

Species overview

Blue lyme grass was is a perennial, rhizomous grass planted for stabilizing sand dunes in Michigan and first collected outside of cultivation in 1941. It occupies sandy soils including shifting sand dunes and beaches along Lake Michigan, and if often used to stabilize slopes. It spreads by seed and rhizome growth and fragmentation. Seeds and rhizome fragments are dispersed up the coastline by wind and wave action.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Mechanical controls are not recommended because root break easily and rhizomes will regrow (MNFI 2012).

Recommendations

Little information is available on treatment options for blue lyme grass at this point. The MNFI recommends early spring herbicide treatments.

Common Privet, Ligustrum vulgare L.

Species Overview

Common privet is widely cultivated European shrub that was first collected in Michigan in 1896. There are six species of non-native privet species in the U.S. In addition to common

privet there is Chinese privet (*L. sinense*), Japanese privets (*L. japonicum*), and Amur privet (*L. amurense*), not known to Michigan, and California privet (*L. ovalifolium*) and border privet (*L. obtusifolium*) that are found in Michigan but not reported to be invasive here. Common privet is a perennial shrub that may grow to 16 ft tall. It has perfect flowers that bloom in mid-June and hundreds of fruits per bush ripen in September and persist on the bush throughout the winter. Seeds are distributed by birds and other animals. Seeds do not persist in the seed bank; nearly all germination occurs during the first growing season (Panetta 2000) though germination rates have been reported to be low, 5-27% (SEPPC 2003). The shrubs also spread vegetatively by sprouting root fragments (MNFI 2012). Privet tolerates sun and full shade and can occupy a variety of habitat types including old fields, woodlands, forests, and riparian areas; they prefer moist soils.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Low (shovel, loppers \$60, stand-up weeder \$150)

Labor: High Permit: No

Young plants and seedlings can be easy to pull or dig, making sure to remove all roots. Root fragments may resprout and follow-up treatment are needed (MNFI 2012). For larger shrubs, remove with an uprooting tool. Cutting or mowing can be effective in limiting seed production if done at least once per growing season, but shrubs will resprout (Remaley and Bargeron 2003). One report indicated that a population of privet was eradicated after two cutting treatments (Batcher 2000).

B. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Moderate (contractors needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Fire is likely to top kill privet but there is little information on it's use for control. There has been some evidence that privet resprouts following fire, and, that ground fires may be difficult to administer since privet prefers moist areas (Faulkner et al 1989). There is other evidence that some species of privet may be killed through repeated burns (Batcher 2000). It is likely that a directed flame on the root crown would kill privet.

A burn permit is from the local fire marshal or the DNR is required.

Recommendations

Management should focus on treating seed source populations by removing mature, fruiting shrubs and controlling root collar sprouts. A combination of mechanical controls and prescribed fires may be used to effectively control this species: Remove aboveground (and

belowground) biomass as possible by mechanical methods, followed up by burning root crowns with high heat prescribed fire. Directed flame from a propane torch on the root crown may be effective (as discussed in barberry control methods) but there are no known trials of this methods. Most literature focuses on the use of herbicides (foliar and cut stump methods) as the preferred treatment.

Bush honeysuckles, Lonicera spp.

Species Overview

Invasive honeysuckles are comprised of a group of Eurasian shrubs and a Japanese vine, including Morrow's honeysuckle (*Lonicera morrowii*), tartarian honeysuckle (*L. tartarica*), hybrid honeysuckle (*L. xbella*), European fly honeysuckle (*L. xylosteum*), amur honeysuckle (*L. maackii*), and Japanese honeysuckle (*L. japonica*). Only the first four species listed have been recorded for Leelanau County, though the other two can be found in southern Michigan and may make their way north. Functionally, our four invasive honeysuckles are quite similar and are known to hybridize and back-cross, therefore they can be grouped together for treatment methods.

All of our invasive honeysuckles are robust shrubs growing to 15 ft tall. They flower in full sun and shade at 3-5 years old, producing orange to red fruit dispersed by birds and mammals in late summer and fall. The seed crop per shrub is around 20,000 per year (Barnes 1972) though other estimates are much higher (Munger 2005). There is some disagreement over the length of viability of seeds, but it is thought they generally do not build up in the seed bank, but, under some conditions may be viable for up to 12 years (Munger 2005). Bush honeysuckles are able sprout vigorously after stem damage from the root crown, as well as spread vegetatively through root suckering and layering (Barnes 1972). There is some evidence that roots remain shallow (<6" deep) (Barnes 1972). They are found establishing in a wide range of habitats including old fields and roadsides, woodlands, forests, swamps, bogs, fens, sand plains, and most dry to facultative wet sites.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Low (shovel, loppers \$50, stand-up weeder \$150)

Labor: High Permit: No

For light infestations, hand-pull or dig small shrubs making sure to remove the root crown. Tamp any disturbed soil to reduce germination sites. Since bush honeysuckles are shallow-rooting small and medium sized plants can be dug or pulled relatively easily. A shrub uprooting tool may be useful. Root fragments typically do not sprout.

Cutting stems can temporarily reduce seed production. There is some evidence that

repeating cutting in well-shaded forests may kill honeysuckles, but in high light areas they have demonstrated vigorous re-growth even with repeated cutting. Cutting must be done once per year, preferably just before seed set, in July. In one study, three years of cutting the stems of forest-grown plants each July resulted in a 70% mortality rate. The same treatment of open-grown plants did not reduce the population (Luken 1990). Cutting stems does not appear to be effective for plants receiving high light.

B. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Prescribed fire has shown some effectiveness at reducing honeysuckle vigor and some mortality though research is lacking. Fire effectively kills aboveground biomass, and is likely to kill seedlings and unhealthy plants; root crowns are often protected from fire damage by topsoil because they are 1-6" deep (Hoffman and Kearns 1997, Nyboer 1992, Smith 2004). Studies suggest that prescribed burns have a generally adverse effect, and with repeated burns honeysuckle shrubs begin to decline (Munger 2005). Burns must be repeated each year for 3-5 years to have a negative effect; single burns do not significantly control populations, though some individuals may die (Kline and McClintock 1994).

A burn permit from the local fire marshal or the DNR is required.

Recommendations

Control bush honeysuckles by targeting the largest seed-source populations. After treatment, it is important to restore bare soil to native flora. Overplanting of tall shrubs and trees will help shade honeysuckles, making regenerating plants more susceptible to future mechanical controls. Follow up monitoring and removal of seedlings is needed after adult plants are removed for several years.

Shaded population should be treated by hand-pulling, digging, or cutting plants. Hand pulling and digging is most effective, but cutting may work in well-shaded areas. Several years of cutting should effectively control shaded populations. Populations in high light areas should be hand-pulled or dug, but not cut unless combined with herbicide; cutting may result in even more vigorous regrowth. Controlled burns may be an option to kill the root crown if hand pulling or digging is not practical. Burns should be done annually for 3-5 years, but results are often mixed, and literature does not suggest the best time of year to burn. In low-quality areas such as old fields, honeysuckles may be pulled by tractor and chain as long as native vegetation is immediately restored to reduce invasion success of honeysuckle seedlings or other non-natives.

Purple loosestrife, Lythrum salicaria (L.)

Species Overview

Purple loosestrife is a perennial herb introduced to the U.S. from Eurasia in the early 1800s. Plants are long lived (up to 22 years) and can grow up to eight feet tall (Munger 2002). Reproduction is vegetative and sexual. Vegetative reproduction is though rhizomes which grow at a rate of one foot per year, sending up multiple new plants with each year's new growth (Swearingen 2009b). Plants are able to produce two to three million seeds per year during its extended (June to September) flowering season (Swearingen 2009b). Seeds are very small and are dispersed by gravity and water, and perhaps somewhat by mammals and birds. Seeds are thought to remain viable for 2-3 years, but because of the number of seeds a plant can produce, they can dominate the seed bank and difficult to "exhaust" (Munger 2002). Seedlings grow quickly and produce spreading rhizomes and seed by 2 years old (Rawinski 1982). There is some evidence that plants can lay dormant in some years and grow normally in others (Munger 2002). It is an obligate wetland species and can be found in most wetland habitats, but particularly open areas such as lakeshores, river edges, marshes, roadside ditches, and other emergent wetlands.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Low Labor: High Permit: No

Small populations of purple loosestrife can be managed by hand-pulling. Plants are very easy to spot at the beginning of the flowering period, usually July in NW Michigan, before plants form seeds. Pull when soil is wet and remove as much of the rhizome as possible. New stems will grow from rhizome fragments and soil disturbances may also spur seedling germination, so it is important to monitor for new plants in following years, using the same removal techniques (Munger 2002). Seeds are thought to be able to remain viable for two to three years, so treatments must remove all adult plants for at least that long to exhaust seed bank. Plants may also lay dormant, so monitoring for several years after eradication is necessary.

Mowing and cutting will not kill the root and is generally inappropriate for wetlands. If necessary, adult plants can be cut just before flowering to limit seed production that season. These will quickly resprout and flower in the following season.

B. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate-High (long-term)

Cost: Moderate (\$150 for one population of *Galerucella* beetles)

Labor: Low Permit: No

Biological control is the preferred method of purple loosestrife control. Four species of insects have been approved for release by the USDA: a root mining weevil, *Hylobius transversovittatus*, a flower-mining weevil, *Nanophyes marmoratus*, and two leaf-feeding beetles, *Galerucella calmariensis* and *G. pusilla*. These species, for the most part, are obligate feeders on purple loosestrife. Literature suggest *Galerucella* beetles are most effective (Munger 2002) and these are recommended by MNFI (2012). Significant reduction in purple loosestrife populations and increase in native species diversity has been observed within several years following introduction at most, but not all, research sites (e.g. Boag and Eckert 2013, Britton et al 2014, McAvoy et al 2016, Waterfield 2013). Some areas have seen a rapid re-growth of other invasive species as loosestrife declines (McAvoy et al 2016).

Once released, beetles have been observed to disperse at about 200 m/year from the original release site (McAvoy et al 2016). In Ontario, these beetles have been observed to have spread widely beyond their introduction sites, so there is significant natural spread and reproduction where there are sufficient populations of loosestrife (Boag and Eckert 2013). If loosestrife populations decline to low levels (after several years of biocontrol), the beetles may eventually die off. At this point, purple loosestrife will begin to reestablish and beetles may have to re-introduced. This cycle can be continuous, however it keeps the loosestrife from forming monocultures, restores native vegetation, and is the most cost-effective treatment (Katie Grzesiak, NW MI Invasive Species Network, pers. comm.).

Galerucella beetles were introduced to purple loosestrife populations along the southern stretches of the Narrows Natural Area (date unknown). Surveys during the growing season of 2012 noted that about 15% of individuals appeared to have died, while the remaining individuals suffered significant leaf damage; these appeared to have delayed flowering and smaller flowering stalks. There was no beetle-related herbivory noted on any other species (from the Floristic Quality Assessment of Narrows Natural Area, 2012).

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate

Cost: Varies Labor: High Permit: No

Purple loosestrife growth will become depressed in shaded areas. If appropriate, plant cuttings of willow, dogwood, or other wetland woody species to compete with purple loosestrife for sunlight.

Loosestrife tends to become dominant when soils are disturbed in wetland areas (were seeds are present). Avoid activities that would disturb soils; if hand-pulling, tamp soils, cover with sufficient native litter and duff and monitor.

Recommendations

Treat early colonizing and satellite populations first, working towards the core populations. Treat small and satellite populations by hand-pulling annually for successive years, or, at minimum, removing seed heads to reduce spread. Follow up for at least 3 years in July to monitor and treat as necessary. Survey connected streams and waterways to look for more seed-source or satellite populations.

Treat core populations by using a combination of ecological, biological, and mechanical controls. Biological controls are most cost-effective for large infestations because there will be enough of the host plant to provide the needed habitat for the insects to establish and reproduce. Combine with ecological and mechanical controls if practical given the site conditions. For example, clip flowering stems of plants that are not killed by the biocontrols, but leave the foliage to provide forage for the beetles to encourage their reproduction. Plant woody species if the site can support them. Monitor health and spread of biological control beetles and reintroduce if needed. This integrated approach will provide good long-term control and is more cost-effective than herbicide use. It is extremely difficult to completely eradicate purple loosestrife by any method but this can curb their invasive nature.

Wild parsnip, Pastinaca sativa L.

Species Overview

Wild parsnip is the "wild" form of the cultivated parsnip. It was listed during the first survey of Michigan in 1838, presumably introduced from Eurasia for cultivation. This wild form has reverted from the cultivated form to have a smaller (but edible) root and perhaps more irritating foliage. Wild parsnip is a monocarpic perennial; it may live for several years in a vegetative form, but will die after flowering. Plants typically flower in their second, third, or fourth year of vegetative growth (Baskin and Baskin 1979). Each plant is capable of producing around 1,000 seeds each, and seeds can last four years in the seedbank (Averill and DiTommaso 2007). It does best in full sun and is shade-intolerant. Typical habitats include roadsides, fields, and disturbed areas, as well as fens, prairie, and savannahs. The sap causes a burn-like rash, phytophotodermatitis.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: High (small populations)

Cost: Low (protective clothing, gloves, and eyewear; stand-up weeder or spade \$25)

Labor: High Permit: No

Cutting and hand-pulling are very effective at controlling and eradicating wild parsnip, but can be labor intensive for large populations. The best practice is to cut each plant's taproot two inches below ground level with a small shovel or spade before the plant sets fruit, preferably in early June, and then pull the plant and dispose of it. The plants will not

send up a new shoot if the top of the taproot is cut.

Mowing can be used as an alternative to cutting-pulling in monocultures, but plants will typically resprout later in the season or the next year. If mowing, do so just as flowers emerge ("bolt") but before seed is set to reduce late-season flowering and increase mortality. One study found that mowing a prairie with some wild parsnip increased parsnip abundance, likely because it decreased competitive with native species (Kline 1986). Do not mow when wild parsnip is in seed; seeds are easily dispersed this way.

Recommendations

Mechanical controls are the only applied method of non-herbicidal treatments. Prescribed fire has not been successful in experimental treatments, and will not kill the plants (though it will kill aboveground biomass). The wild parsnip webworm has been researched as a biocontrol however it is not aggressive enough to effectively reduce populations (Averill and DiTommaso 2007). Treatment should prioritize removing seed sources from an area by cutting stems below the soil surface when adult plants are bolting. Return in a week or two to check for late-bolting plants and remove these as well. Continue this process for 3-4 years, and, if no plants have been allowed to go to seed, the populations should be eradicated.

Reed canary-grass, Phalaris arundinacea L.

Species Overview

Reed canary-grass is a circumboreal species that is historically native to the U.S yet it is thought that invasive-acting populations are from multiple Eurasian introductions (Dore and McNeill 1980, Jakubowski et al 2014, Lavergne and Molofsky 2007). Reed canary-grass was recorded in Michigan during the first surveys (1838) but it is unknown when the invasive form was introduced; it is thought that it began spreading in the early 1900's in livestock forage and bank stabilization seed (Waggy 2010). American and Eurasian strains are indistinguishable based on physical characteristics, but, in general, populations that form dense monocultures are through to be a Eurasian strain, while populations that are not aggressive are thought to be native (Waggy 2010).

Reed canary-grass is a perennial grass that spreads by seed and rhizome. The non-native variety forms dense monocultures in a variety of wetland soils, preferring full sun and intermittent flooding. Preferred habitat includes floodplains, fens, riparian areas, ditches, wet prairies and old fields, and other open wetlands. Reed canary-grass is somewhat shade intolerant; where already established it can persist in shaded areas. Grasses flower June though July and set seed in late-July through August and each plant sets between 100 and 600 seeds (Waggy 2010). Seeds are dispersed by gravity, water, machinery, humans, and other animals. Seeds may persist in the seed banks for 20 or more years, though most seeds germinate within 1-6 years (Goss 1924, Toole and Brown 1946). Rhizomes are found in the upper 1-6" of soil (Mueller 1941). Rhizome fragments can produce new plants.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Fire top-kills reed canary-grass, but rhizomes generally survive because of the moist soil conditions they occur on (Howe 2000). Fire does not kill seed and may stimulate the seed-bank (Foster and Wetzel 2005). Post-fire, reed canary-grass reestablishes or increases in abundance (Waggy 2010). There is some suggestion that repeated fires may effectively control reed canary-grass (i.e. late fall annual burns for 6 years) but results were not published (Waggy 2010). In a series of studies by Howe (1995), reed canary-grass was found to increase in summer-burned plots but decreased in spring-burned plots (but not "controlled"). Prescribed fire is useful for aboveground biomass management but does not successfully control the grass alone.

In integrated control treatments in Illinois, reed canary-grass was reduced from 88% cover to 14% cover by March burns to remove thatch, followed by herbicide (sethoxydim) application as the grass regrew in May. This process was then repeated in late summer, followed by native seed additions. Reductions were measured after three years of repeating this process (Simpson 2009). A similar integrated treatment was applied in Wisconsin but reed canary-grass was only reduced temporarily; however native species cover and diversity did increase significantly among reed canary-grass (Wilcox et al 2007). Other studies found fall herbicide application most effective in integrated treatments because it is translocated to the rhizomes (Adams et al 2006).

Prescribed fire may be difficult to apply in wetlands. Burn permits from the local fire marshal or the DNR are required.

B. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Low-Moderate (brush-cutter \$100+)

Labor: High Permit: No

Hand-pulling and digging reed canary grass are not effective controls (Waggy 2010). There may be some exceptions to this for very small populations, especially in upland areas where it is not likely to grow aggressively (Henderson 1990).

Cutting and mowing provides temporary control of aboveground biomass but will not kill rhizomes. Reed canary grass may increase in density after cutting by rhizome and root crown sprouts and seedling recruitment (Waggy 2010).

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate (long-term)

Cost: High (bare root or potted woody species)

Labor: High Permit: No

In a study in Washington, reed canary-grass stems were decreased by 56% where willows were planted a meter apart, and by 68% were willows were planted a half-meter apart (Kim et al 2006). Observational data from the Mebert Creek Preserve Floristic Quality Assessment suggests dense shade from northern white-cedar is effective at limiting reed canary-grass establishment (May 2016).

Recommendations

Intensive integrated management is necessary to control established reed-canary grass populations. No one treatment alone has been successful at controlling reed canary-grass (including herbicides), and no combined, intensive treatments have been demonstrated to eradicate this species. The literature suggests that the best approach combines prescribed burns, herbicides, and restoration planting. An appropriate approach may be some variation of these, such as: 1) early spring prescribed fire to remove thatch, 2) herbicide treatment as new shoots and seedlings emerge, probably in late summer or fall in order to translocate herbicides to the rhizomes, 3) a repeat of step 1 and 2 the next year, followed by 4) a dense planting of fast-growing woody wetland species such as willow trees or (for a denser canopy) northern-white cedar. The planting should occur after herbicides are inactive in the soil and before the reed canary-grass reestablishes, so that the trees can quickly overtop and shade new shoots. This is not practical for very wet areas such as wet prairies and fens, where trees would not naturally occur; native grasses, sedges, and forbs should be used in these situations.

Reed, Phragmites australis subsp. australis (Cav.) Steud.

Species Overview

Invasive *Phragmites* is a non-native haplotype "M" of the circumpolar grass species. The grass is tall, up to 15 ft, and has hard canes and vigorous rhizomes. Rhizomes contain 80% of the plant's biomass and can grow to 60 ft long. Around 2,000 seeds are produced per plant annually and are dispersed by the wind in late July through August. Vegetative reproduction occurs through rhizomes. Vegetative dispersal is also possible if rhizomes fragments are transported by water or equipment to new areas. Habitat is coastal and interior marshes, bogs, fens, swamps, lake margins, roadside ditches, and wet areas. This species is shade intolerant, but can persist in forested areas.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate-High (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Prescribed fire is recommended to remove excess above-ground biomass, kill *Phragmites* seeds, and promote native plant growth by stimulating the native seed bank and increasing light (MNFI 2009). Burning will not significantly kill rhizomes. Burning is considered a secondary control method and is not recommended to be used alone as it can lead to increased vigor and growth (Hazelton et al 2014, MNFI 2009). Burning is a means of mechanical removal and it is not effective unless combined with hydrological restoration (flooding) or herbicide application (Marks et al 1994).

Burns done after herbicide treatment are more effective than burning alone (MNFI 2009) or herbicide treatment alone (Ailstock et al 2001, Carlson et al 2009). Herbicide and burning combined are effective in restoring native plant diversity more quickly than only herbicide treatment in the short term. Burning may also be combined with post-burn flooding to reduce oxygen availability to the rhizomes and "drown" plants (Hazelton et al 2014).

Burns may be conducted in the winter to remove biomass that shades native plants without harming fire sensitive species (reptiles and amphibians, birds, insects, some native plants). This is a form of native species management and temporary physical control. Without integrating other treatments this could promote vigor of the stand.

Phragmites burns very hot and fast, and should be performed by a trained professional. A burn permit is required by the local fire department or the Michigan DNR.

B. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate-High (brush cutter or mower \$300+)

Labor: High

Permit: Varies (on Lake Michigan shoreline)

Cutting or mowing stems can be used to reduce above-ground biomass that shades native plants, reduce photosynthetic capacity, and starve roots, however it can also stimulate shoot production and increase stem density (Hazelton et al 2014). Appropriately-timed cutting of *Phragmites* stems will not, on its own, eliminate it, though it may help reduce short-term dominance (Hazelton et al 2014). As with burning, cutting or mowing is a secondary control method to remove biomass but will not kill roots. Mowing during seed dispersal will spread the population.

There is some disagreement in the literature on when to cut *Phragmites*. The Michigan DEQ recommends cutting to remove excess biomass and spur native plant growth between August and the first hard frost, or in the winter when the ground is frozen. However, Asaeda et al (2006) found cutting in June more effectively decreased biomass

then cutting in July. Several sources cite that cutting without first treating with herbicides or cutting at the wrong time of year will stimulate plant growth and increase density and spread (MDEQ, MNFI 2009). It is generally agreed upon that cutting without first applying an herbicide treatment is an ineffective long-term method (Hazelton et al 2014). Cutting has been shown to be more effective when combined with post-cutting flooding over the tops of the stem fragments (Marks et al 1994, Kiviat 2006, Smith 2005), or, if the plants are well covered with thick plastic sheeting and mulched (Rudd et al 2014, Burdick et al 2010). Covering after cutting also kills native plant populations thus is generally not a preferable treatment.

Hand cut small populations or use a brush cutter for large, dense stands. Mow to a height greater than 4" and watch out for small animals and native plants. After mowing, collect and bag all plant material and dispose of in a sanitary way. Attempts to hand pull or to remove root system will not be successful because of the extensive rhizomes. Mechanical soil disturbance (tilling, disking) can lead to increased stand density and spread the rhizomes (Rudd et al 2014).

Mowing and cutting below the normal high water mark of the Great Lakes requires a Great Lakes Shoreline Management permit from the MDEQ, Land and Water Management Division. These permits are active for up to five years.

C. Water-level Management

Effectiveness: Varies

Cost: Varies Labor: Varies

Permit: Varies (in some wetlands)

Phragmites prefers wetland soils, thus if water level management is an available option it may be employed as a strategy in a larger *Phragmites* control plan (e.g. St. John's Marsh, St. Claire lakeshore). Water levels greater than 12" have been shown to reduce the lateral spread of rhizomes and stolons and kill some seedlings (Rupp et al 2014). Also, dry soil inhibits seedling germination, however adult plants have been recorded in upland habitat.

Flooding can be employed after the removal of biomass by burning or cutting to starve roots of oxygen. It is unclear the length of time an area needs to be flooded and the relative effectiveness.

D. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Unknown Cost: Not available

Labor: Low

Permit: Currently restricted

For biological controls to have a fidelity towards the non-native subspecies of

Phragmites, and not the native species, would require an "unprecedented degree of specificity" never before seen in biological controls (Cronin et al 2016). However, several biological control agents have been tested throughout the past several decades.

Currently two species of European noctuid moths (*Archanara*) are being tested for preference towards non-native *Phragmites* and preparations are being made for a field trial in New York (Blossey et al 2013). They are currently considered a quarantined species.

E. Herbivory

Effectiveness: Variable

Cost: Unknown Labor: Low Permits: No

Goat and cattle have been used to manage *Phragmites* around the United Stated and Europe. A study conducted in Maryland showed that goats can significantly reduce stand biomass and increase native species diversity (Brundage 2010). This appears to be most successful in *Phragmites* monocultures; goats have been shown to preferentially browse native forbs over grasses in mixed stands (Teal and Peterson 2005). Cattle are being used to reduce *Phragmites* by several agencies around the Great Salt Lake with some success but no published findings (Hazelton et al 2014).

F. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Variable (long-term control)

Cost: Moderate-High

Labor: High

Permit: Varies (some wetland permitting requirements)

Facilitating succession towards a shrub or treed wetland will lead to long term control (Rupp et al 2014). This is appropriate for areas in which the abiotic components support shrub-carrs and swamps as their natural communities such as upland-wetland transition areas or disturbed shrub-carrs and swamps. This is most effectively done by planting fast-growing species that can adapt to wet and dry conditions such as red-osier dogwood (*Cornus sericea*) and willows (*Salix spp.*), among others.

All control programs should focus on native species restoration. Areas that are treated and not restored are typically reinvaded (Hazelton et al 2014). Denuded or disturbed wetlands soils are the primary vector for seed establishment historically (Taylor 1938) and today. It is important to consider how many *Phragmites* seeds may be in the seed bank. It is unclear how long they remain viable in the seed bank. Native seeds or plants should be established immediately after control measures to compete with emerging seedlings and rhizome remnants (Peter and Burdick 2010). The native seedbank remains highly diverse and viable in *Phragmites* stands and re-seedling may not be necessary

(Ailstock et al 2001, Baldwin et al 2010), however the type of control used alters seedbank composition (Hazelton et al 2014). Herbicides changed native species composition but not percent cover in treatments of St. John's Marsh on Lake St. Claire (Getsinger et al 2013). Established native plants (potted plants, plugs, or remnants) can preemptively exploit *Phragmites*' niche and are more effective competitors than native seedlings (Byun et al 2013).

Landscape-context management, with close attention to adjacent land uses is critical to controlling *Phragmites* and has been vastly neglected in management plans (Hazelton et al 2014). Landscape management should consider connection among wetlands, source populations, potential areas to new establishment, and surrounding land uses. Nutrient load inputs from surrounding wetlands or run-off can spur aggressive growth (e.g. Lake Michigan shoreline stands fertilized by decomposing *Cladophora* algae). Natural communities in northern Michigan are typically low in nitrogen and phosphorous, and native plants are adapted to live in these conditions. Native plants cannot take advantage of increased nutrient loads but *Phragmites* will (as with other non-natives). Novel methods to remove nitrogen loads from soil include high carbon (and low nitrogen), additives such as saw dust, to increase microbial nitrogen immobilization (Ianone et al 2008).

Recommendations

High-quality natural areas and low-density or small *Phragmites* populations should be prioritized for management, as these areas are more likely to be successfully restored than large monocultures (Hazelton et al 2014). The literature stresses using a combination of treatment methods, multiple treatments, maintaining the treatment schedule, and being adaptive in management technique over time as new information arises. Though there are a significant number of *Phragmites* management projects across the U.S., very few have long-term monitoring in place or publish data on effectiveness (Hazelton et al 2014). Actual eradication in any project area is rare, and many years of follow-up treatments are critical, thus monitoring and natural community restoration is essential (Hazelton et al 2014). Landscape-level control of nitrogen has been suggested as the most important long-term control strategy for the future (Kettenring et al 2011).

The use of herbicide (glyphosate and imazapyr) is recommended as the primary treatment method in all literature reviewed, with non-herbicidal controls used as secondary treatments; non-herbicidal treatments alone have not been demonstrated to successfully control *Phragmites* populations. Exact treatment will vary by site and should include a variety of treatment types. Successful methods initially treat stands with herbicides, followed by a secondary treatment of a controlled burn or mechanical biomass removal. As soon as possible after control methods, native plant populations should be surveyed and restored as needed, with a focus on cultivating native plants that compete with or shade remerging *Phragmites*. Spot herbicide applications are typically recommended for follow-up control.

Common buckthorn, Rhamnus cathartica L.

Species Overview

Common buckthorn is a large Eurasia shrub that was first collected in Michigan in 1914 after being planted widely across the U.S. It spreads by fruit and is dispersed widely by birds, but does not reproduce vegetatively. Adult plants begin to flower and fruit around age 5-6. Flowers are dioecious, with male and female on separate plants, but it may also have some hermaphrodite flowers. A single female plant is thought to produce between 200 to 1,500 fruits per season (Zouhar 2011). Fruits ripen in September and are then dispersed by gravity, birds, and possibly mammals. Seeds tend to accumulate densely under parent plants (Zouhar 2011). Seeds remain viable in the seedbank around 2-6 years and but only have high germination rates in the first year, after which it steeply declines (Zouhar 2011). Common buckthorn can be found along field edges, roadsides, woodlands, forest canopy openings, floodplain forests, riverbanks, and area under bird perches. It is long-lived and tolerant to full sun and shade.

Treatment Options

A. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low-Moderate Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: Moderate Permit: Yes

Where there is sufficient fuel, prescribed fires can kill seedlings and aboveground biomass of adult shrubs (Boudreau and Willson 1992). Adult shrubs will resprout from the root crown post-fire and seed germination may be encouraged by fire though increasing light, scarifying the soil, and increasing soil temperature (Bisikwa 2005). Fire does not appear to kill buckthorn seeds. No studies have reported successful mortality of adults from fire alone. Several studies found that buckthorn is very difficult to burn, especially in moist sites (e.g. Apfelbaum and Haney 1990, Packard 1988).

Fire may be useful in killing the vast seedling carpets the buckthorn forms, especially in combination with other treatments to remove adult shrubs. Suggested methods include early spring burns (before native species emerge), or directed propane-torch wilting, for two seasons (Boudreau and Willson 1992, Tu et al 2001). Torching is often preferred because of the damp conditions that buckthorn tends to grow in. Torching can also be used to kill saplings by burning the base of the main stem.

B. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Low (stand-up weeder such as "Up-rooter" \$150)

Labor: High Permit: No Hand-pulling and digging can effectively remove buckthorn, particularly because it will not resprout from root fragments. Seedlings are easiest to hand pull where they occur in small numbers and infrequently; where dense carpets of seedlings occur, it can be too time consuming to hand-pull and they may quickly resprout in the same density from the seed bank (Tu et al 2001). Adult shrubs may be pulled using a stand-up weeder. Areas where the soil is disturbed from pulling or digging often regrows a dense seedling layer; these should be tamped down after disturbance and planted with native species. Annual monitoring should watch for re-growing seedlings.

Cutting stems is not an effective control treatment for buckthorn because it will resprout from the root crown. In some studies, they grew back denser in the year after cutting (e.g. Moriarty 2005). In another study, stems that were double-cut (cut a second time four hours after cutting the first time) lead to 50% mortality (Gourley 1984), however this was only demonstrated once. Some literature recommends covering the cut stem with a cut baggie or tin can, securing it firmly, and leaving in place for 1-2 years to prevent resprouting (Minnesota DNR). It may be practical for small populations in high-quality natural areas. Cutting is effective for temporary reduction of fruit production if stems just before setting fruit. There is no information on mowing seedlings.

C. Cultural Controls

Effectiveness: Low Cost: Moderate Labor: Moderate

Permit: No

Several studies have documented a lack of regenerating native species in buckthorn-dominated areas (e.g. Delanoy and Archibold 2007, Packard 1988). For this reason it is important to plant native species following buckthorn removal to immediately cover exposed soils and provide shade and competition with buckthorn seedlings. Planting native grasses may help build a fuel load for future prescribed burns. Native shrubs such as *Cornus sericea* and *Salix spp.* may compete well with invasive shrubs.

Recommendations

Target satellite populations of fruiting shrubs in the highest conservation areas first, and then work towards more heavily infested areas. If there is a large infestation of fruiting shrubs nearby, this will be a seed source for new satellite populations, so it is important to address as soon as possible after targeting satellite populations. The prolific rates of new seedling establishment needs to be addressed in return treatments.

Treat common buckthorn using multiple approaches. Target fruiting (female) buckthorn by digging or pulling as possible. If not possible, cut fruiting stems, preferably twice in one season. If there is appropriate amounts of fuel, use prescribed fire to further treat cut stems and particularly seedlings. A directed propane torch approach could be substituted for prescribed fire to make sure root crowns are sufficiently burned in wet areas. After clearing and treating an area, plant native overstory species and monitor for buckthorn seedlings. A carpet of seedlings often

forms after disturbances; retreat these with prescribed fire for several years until the seed bank is exhausted, and reseed with native species.

Multiflora rose, Rosa multiflora (Murray)

Species Overview

Multiflora rose is an large rose native to eastern Asia that was once widely planted for "living fences," introduced in Michigan by the 1930s. It produces large arching canes up to 15 feet long that root at the tip to form new plants. Fruits are small hips bore on compound inflorescences. A mature plant is capable of producing 1 million seeds per year that remain viable for 20 years (Czarapata 2005, Kaufman and Kaufman 2007). Seeds are bird and mammal dispersed. Multiflora rose is widely adaptable to soil and light conditions, though it prefers moist soils and high light. Habitats occupied are broad and include open woodlands, forest edges, old fields, marsh edges, and swamps.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Low (short term)

Cost: Low (gloves, protective clothing and eyewear, loppers \$60)

Labor: High Permit: No

Small plants and seedlings can be pulled by hand, taking care to remove the root to prevent resprouting. This is not an cost-effective control as plants can quickly grow too large to be practical to hand-pull, and the tall canes with robust thorns provide effective defense against humans. Some resources suggest pulling large shrubs with a chain and a tractor if possible. If this method is used, it is important to re-tamp soil and plant native species.

Mechanical control is most often applied by cutting stems of individual plants or mowing large monocultures with a brush-mower. Cutting aboveground biomass will inhibit seed production and spread but it is not effective at killing the plant unless done intensively. Areas must be mowed three to six times per growing season for two to four years to have effective mortality (NRCS Job Sheet NH-314).

Always wear protective gear when handling multiflora rose.

B. Prescribed Fire

Effectiveness: Low

Cost: Moderate (contractor needed)

Labor: High Permit: Yes

Prescribed burns can be used to remove the aboveground biomass if there is enough fuel on the forest floor to create sufficient heat. This will not kill all the roots and they will resprout within a few weeks, but is helpful to remove aboveground biomass, making large patches more manageable. Burns are most effective in early spring when the plants are sending energy to the leaves.

There have been some experiments with directed flame treatments; these will kill large shrubs back to the base but they tend to regrow. More research is needed.

C. Biological Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate

Cost: Not available (wild populations exist)

Labor: Low Permit: No

Biological controls are not currently available for multiflora rose, however there are two pests that are being researched, the rose-rosette disease native to the western U.S. and the European rose chalcid (wasp). The rose-rosette disease has been slowly spreading eastward and is thought to have potential for effectively controlling multiflora rose. (NRCS Job Sheet NH-314). It infects all old world rose species and commercial hybrids, but is reported to not infect several native roses: *R. setigera, R. acicularis, R. arkansas, R. blanda. R. palustris,* and *R. carolina* (Windham et al, no date). These biocontrols are not specific to multiflora rose so it is unlikely they will become available commercially.

Recommendations

Physical removal of above-ground biomass (cutting, mowing) will help reduce seed production and spread, but will not kill the plant, and is also extremely laborious for large plants in natural areas that cannot be mowed. Hand-digging smaller plants, or large plants that have had their canes removed can effectively control plants but is very labor intensive. Prescribed fire can be used in fire-adapted communities if there is sufficient fuel to produce enough heat as a substitute for mechanical removal, but roots will most likely need to be addressed. It is unclear how well fire kills seeds in the seedbank. Most literature recommends using herbicide to kill the roots in combination with mechanical control or prescribed burns to manage aboveground biomass.

Japanese hedge-parsley, Torilis japonica (Houtt.) DC.

Species Overview

Hedge-parsley is an annual or biennial forb from Europe that was first observed in Michigan in 1952. First year plants form a rosette and may flower, or flower in their second year. After flowering the plant dies. Seeds are small with hooked hairs that allow it to catch fabric and fur, dispersing by animals. Seed viability information is not available. It can tolerate full shade to

full sun, though it prefers partial shade and establishes along forest edges, woodlands, fields, fencerows, and roadsides.

Treatment Options

A. Mechanical Controls

Effectiveness: Moderate-High

Cost: Low Labor: High Permit: No

According to information from the Aldo Leopold Foundation (2014), hand-pulling is effective and practical for small populations. If the root is not removed, it can re-sprout. Focus on larger second-year plants that can be easier to identify and remove. Plant may develop flowers over several weeks so return visits may be needed to make sure all flowering plants have been removed. Hand-pulling is as or more effective than herbicide application (Panke and Renz 2012).

Mowing can be used to slow reproduction of large populations if it is timed correctly. Plants must be mowed as flowers form/bolt but before seeds set. If mowed to early, plants will re-flower, and if mowed too late, mowing will broadcast seeds and further invasion. One study showed that after mowing bolting plants, <5% of plants re-grew (Renz and Heflin 2014). Mowing is only recommended for areas such as roadsides.

Recommendations

Because adults are short-lived, primary controls should focus on stopping seed production. Work from satellite populations inward to primary infestations. Hand-pull new populations of hedge-parsley before it goes to seed (mid-summer) for several years. Once populations go to seed, do not enter the area so that seeds are not caught on clothing and spread further. There is little information available on hedge-parsley control.

REFERENCES

- Adams, C.R. and S.M. Galatowitsch. 2006. Increasing the effectiveness of reed canary grass (*Phalaris arundinacea* L.) control in wet meadow restorations. Restoration Ecology. 14(3): 441-451.
- Ailstock, M.S., Norman, C.M., Bushmann, P.J. 2001. Common Reed *Phragmites australis*: Control and Effects Upon Biodiversity in Freshwater Nontidal Wetlands. Restor. Ecol., 9:49–59. doi:10.1046/j.1526-100x.2001.009001049.x
- Albert, Dennis and Patrick Comer. 2008. Atlas of Early Michigan's Forests, Grasslands, and Wetlands. Michigan State University Press, East Lansing.
- Aldo Leopold Foundation. 2014. Japanese Hedge Parsley Treatment Options. Available: http://www.aldoleopold.org/WoodlandSchool/assets/JHPtreatment.pdf. (Accessed: February 6 2017)
- Apfelbaum, Steven I.; Haney, Alan W. 1990. Management of degraded oak savanna remnants in the Upper Midwest: preliminary results from three years of study. In: Hughes, H. Glenn; Bonnicksen, Thomas M., eds. Restoration `89: the new management challenge: Proceedings, 1st annual meeting of the Society for Ecological Restoration; 1989 January 16-20; Oakland, CA. Madison, WI: The University of Wisconsin Arboretum, Society for Ecological Restoration: 280-291.
- Arnett, A.E., Louda, S.M., 2002. Re-test of *Rhinocyllus conicus* host specificity, and the prediction of ecological risk in biological control. Biol. Conserv. 106: 251–257. doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00251-8.
- Asaeda T, Rajapakse L, Manatunge J, Sahara N. 2006. The effect of summer harvesting of Phragmites australis on growth characteristics and rhizome resource storage, Hydrobiologia, 553:327-335.
- Averill, K.M. and DiTommaso, A., 2007. Wild parsnip (Pastinaca sativa): a troublesome species of increasing concern. Weed Technology, 21(1):279-287.
- Baldwin AH, Kettenring KM, Whigham DF. 2010. Seed banks of *Phragmites australis*-dominated brackish wetlands: relationships to seed viability, inundation, and land cover. Aquatic Botany. 93:163-169.
- Barnes, William J. 1972. The autecology of the *Lonicera X bella* complex. Dissertation. University of Wisconsin, Madison. 169 p.
- Baskin, J. M. and Baskin, C. M. 1979. Studies on the autecology and population biology of the weedy monocarpic perennial, *Pastinaca sativa*. J. Ecol. 67: 601-610.
- Batcher, Michael S. 2000. Element stewardship abstract: *Ligustrum* spp. (privet). In: Weeds on the web: The Nature Conservancy wildland invasive species program. Available: http://www.invasive.org/weedcd/pdfs/tncweeds/ligu-sp.pdf. (Accessed Feb 14 2017).
- Berner, D., Smallwood, E., Cavin, C., Lagopodi, A., Kashefi, J., Kolomiets, T., Pankratova, L., Mukhina, Z., Cripps, M., Bourdôt, G. 2013. Successful establishment of epiphytotics of *Puccinia punctiformis*

- for biological control of *Cirsium arvense*. Biol. Control 67, 350–360. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2013.09.010
- Berner, D.K., Smallwood, E.L., Cavin, C.A., McMahon, M.B., Thomas, K.M., Luster, D.G., Lagopodi, A.L., Kashefi, J.N., Mukhina, Z., Kolomiets, T., Pankratova, L. 2015. Asymptomatic systemic disease of Canada thistle (*Cirsium arvense*) caused by *Puccinia punctiformis* and changes in shoot density following inoculation. Biol. Control 86, 28–35. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2015.02.006
- Bisikwa, Jenipher. 2005. Establishment and management of European buckthorn (*Rhamnus cathartica* L.). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota. 117 pp.
- Blossey, B., R. A. Casagrande, L. Tewksbury, H. Hinz, P. Häflinger, L. Martin, and J. Cohen. 2013. Identifying, developing and releasing insect biocontrol agents for the management of Phragmites australis. ERDC/EL TN-13-3. Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.
- Boag, A.E., Eckert, C.G., 2013. The effect of host abundance on the distribution and impact of biocontrol agents on purple loosestrife (*Lythrum salicaria*, Lythraceae). Ecoscience 20: 90–99. doi:10.2980/20-1-3549
- Boudreau, Denise, Willson, Gary. 1992. Buckthorn research and control at Pipestone National Monument. Restoration & Management Notes. 10(1): 94-95.
- Boudreau, Denise; Willson, Gary. 1994. Buckthorn control with garlon 3A at Pipestone National Monument. In: Wickett, Robert G.; Lewis, Patricia Dolan; Woodliffe, Allen; Pratt, Paul, eds. Spirit of the land, our prairie legacy: Proceedings, 13th North American prairie conference; 1992 August 6-9; Windsor, ON. Windsor, ON: Department of Parks and Recreation: 161-164.
- Britton, J.S., Reber, R.T., Rothrock, P.E. and Dunbar, R., 2014, January. Impacts of *Galerucella calmariensis* and *G. pusilla* on *Lythum salicaria* in Indiana. In Proceedings of the Indiana Academy of Science, vol. 123(1).
- Boersma PD, Reichard SE, van Buren AN, eds. 2006. Invasive species in the Pacific Northwest. University of Washington Press, Seattle. Pp 80-81
- Brown, Rachel. 2014. Invasive *Phragmites* Control- Combining Chemical and Covering Treatments. Undergraduate Research Opportunities Program, University of Minnesota.
- Burdick DM, Peter CR, Moore GE, Wilson G. 2010. Comparison of restoration techniques to reduce dominance of *Phragmites australis* at Meadow Pond, Hampton New Hampshire, pg. 73.
- Brundage A. 2010. Grazing as a management tool for controlling *Phragmites australis* and restoring native plant biodiversity in wetlands. Master's of Science Thesis. College Park, MD.
- Byun C, deBlois S, Brisson J. 2013. Plant functional group identity and diversity determine biotic resistance to invasion by an exotic grass. Journal of Ecology, vol. 101:128-139.
- Call, Lara J. 2002. Analysis of intraspecific and interspecific interactions between the invasive exotic tree-of-heaven (*Ailanthus altissima* (Miller) Swingle) and the native black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia* L.). Thesis. Virginia Polytechnic Institute, Blacksburg, VA. 80 p.

- Cao, L. J. Larson, L. Berent, and A. Fusaro. 2012. *Cirsium palustre*. USGS Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database, Gainesville Florida, and NOAA Great Lakes Aquatic Nonindigenous Species Information System, Ann Arbor, Michigan. Available: https://nas.er.usgs.gov/queries/GreatLakes/FactSheet.aspx?SpeciesID=2702. (Accessed January 18, 2017).
- Carlson ML, Kowalski KP, Wilcox DA. 2009. Promoting species establishment in a *Phragmites*-dominated Great Lakes coastal wetland, Natural Areas Journal, vol. 29: 263-280.
- Catling, Paul M.; Sinclair, Adrianne; Cuddy, Don. 2002. Plant community composition and relationship of disturbed and undisturbed alvar woodland. Canadian Field-Naturalist, vol. 116(4): 571-579.
- Cipollini, K., Greenawalt Bohrer, M. 2016. Comparison of allelopathic effects of five invasive species on two native species. J. Torrey Bot. Soc. vol. 143: 427–436. doi:10.3159/TORREY-D-15-00062.1
- Clark, Frances H.; Mattrick, Chris. 1998. Lifestyles of invasion: three case studies. New England Wild Flower: Conservation Notes of the New England Wild Flower Society, vol. 2(3): 13-18.
- Clements, D.R., Larsen, T., Grenz, J. 2016. Knotweed Management Strategies in North America with the Advent of Widespread Hybrid Bohemian Knotweed, Regional Differences, and the Potential for Biocontrol Via the Psyllid *Aphalara itadori* Shinji. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag., vol 9: 60–70. doi:10.1614/IPSM-D-15-00047.1
- Constán-Nava, S., Bonet, A., Pastor, E., Lledó, M.J. 2010. Long-term control of the invasive tree *Ailanthus altissima*: Insights from Mediterranean protected forests. For. Ecol. Manage. vol. 260: 1058–1064. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.030
- Cronin, J.T., Kiviat, E., Meyerson, L.A., Bhattarai, G.P., Allen, W.J. 2016. Biological control of invasive *Phragmites australis* will be detrimental to native *P. australis*. Biol. Invasions, 18: 2749–2752. doi:10.1007/s10530-016-1138-x
- CDOA (Colorado Department of Agriculture). 2017. Canada thistle biocontol. State of Colorado. Available: https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/agconservation/canada-thistle-biocontrol. (Accessed: January 18, 2017).
- Czarapata, E.J. 2005. Invasive plants of the upper Midwest: an illustrated guide to their identification and control. The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison. 215 p.
- Daehler, C.C., 2003. Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 34(1), pp.183-211.
- Delanoy, Luc; Archibold, O. W. 2007. Efficacy of control measures for European buckthorn (*Rhamnus cathartica* L.) in Saskatchewan. Environmental Management, vol. 40: 709-718.
- Ding, J., Wu, Y., Zheng, H., Fu, W., Reardon, R., Liu, M., 2006. Assessing potential biological control of the invasive plant, tree-of-heaven, *Ailanthus altissima*. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 16, 547–566. doi:10.1080/09583150500531909
- DiTomaso, J.M., Kyser, G.B., 2007. Control of *Ailanthus altissima* Using Stem Herbicide Application Techniques. Arboric. Urban For. 33, 55–63.

- DiTomaso, J.M., G.B. Kyser et al. 2013. Weed control in natural areas in the western United States. Weed Research and Information Center, University of California. 544 pp.
- Dore, W. G. & J. McNeill. 1980. Grasses of Ontario. Agriculture Canada Research Branch Monograph 26. 566 pp.
- Drayton, Brian and Richard B. Primack. Experimental extinction of garlic mustard (*Alliaria petiolata*) populations: implications for weed science and conservation biology. Biological Invasions 1: 159-167, 1999.
- Emery, S.M., Uwimbabazi, J., Flory, S.L., 2011. Fire intensity effects on seed germination of native and invasive Eastern deciduous forest understory plants. For. Ecol. Manage. 261, 1401–1408. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2011.01.024
- Evans, , Chris. 2007. Pest management Invasive plant control: Garlic mustard (*Alliaria petiolata*). Conservation Practice Job Sheet MN797. Natural Resources Conservation Service. Available: https://efotg.sc.egov.usda.gov/references/public/MN/GarlicMustardMN.pdf. (Accessed Jan 24, 2017).
- Farmer, S., Ward, J.R., Horton, J.L., Clarke, H.D., 2016. Southern Appalachian urban forest response to three invasive plant removal treatments. Manag. Biol. Invasions 7, 329–342. doi:10.3391/mbi.2016.7.4.03
- Faulkner, Jerry L.; Clebsch, Edward E. C.; Sanders, William L. 1989. Use of prescribed burning for managing natural and historic resources in Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park, U.S.A. Environmental Management. 13(5): 603-612.
- Feret, P.P., 1973. Early flowering in *Ailanthus*. For. Sci. 19, 237–239.
- Fjeran, T., 2014. Treatment Options for Controlling *Brachypodium sylvaticum* and Impacts on Native Vegetation. Oregon State University. Master's Thesis.
- Forman, J., Kesseli, R. V, 2003. Sexual reproduction in the invasive species *Fallopia japonica* (*Polygonaceae*). Am. J. Bot. 90, 586–92. doi:10.3732/ajb.90.4.586
- Foster, Richard D.; Wetzel, Paul R. 2005. Invading monotypic stands of *Phalaris arundinacea*: a test of fire, herbicide, and woody and herbaceous native plant groups. Restoration Ecology. 13(2): 318-324.
- Fraser, N. 2000. *Cirsium palustre* (marsh thistle). Literature search and habitat potential risk analysis. Prepared for Ministry of Forests, Forest Practices Branch, Kamloops, British Columbia. 53 pp. Available: http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hra/Publications/invasive_plants/marshplumethistleassessment2 000.pdf (Accessed January 17, 2017).
- Fryer, Janet L. 2010. *Ailanthus altissima*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/. (Accessed January 23, 2017).
- Great Lakes Indian Fish & Wildlife Commission (GLIFWC). 2006. Eurasian marsh thistle (*Cirsium palustre*). Available http://www.glifwc.org/invasives/Cirsium_palustre/control.html. Accessed January 18, 2017.

- Getsinger, K., Poovey, A., Kafcas, E., Schafer, J., 2013. Chemical Control of Invasive *Phragmites* in a Great Lakes Marsh: A Field Demonstration 2. ERDC/EL TN-13-1. US. Army Corp of Engineers Research and Development Center, Vicksburg MS.
- Goss, W. L. 1924. The vitality of buried seeds. Journal of Agricultural Research. 29(7): 349-362.
- Gourley, Linda Coenen; Howell, Evelyn. 1984. Factors in buckthorn invasion documented; control measure checked (Wisconsin). Restoration and Management Notes. 2(2): 87.
- Gover, Art, Jon Johnson, and Larry Kuhns. 2005. Managing Japanese knotweed and giant knotweed on roadsides. Roadside Vegetation management Fact Sheet 5. Roadside Research Project. Department of Horticulture, Penn State University and Pennsylvania Department of Transportation. Available: http://plantscience.psu.edu/research/projects/vegetative-management/publications/roadside-vegetative-management-factsheets/5managing-knotweed-on-roadsides. (Accessed Feb. 7 2017).
- Gover, Art, Jon Johnson, and Jim Sellmer. 2007. Factsheet: Managing Canada Thistle. Conservation Reserve Enhancement Program Technical Assistance Series. Penn State Department of Horticulture. USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service, Harrisburg PA. Available: https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_018027.pdf. (Accessed January 17, 2017).
- Grevstad, F., Shaw, R., Bourchier, R., Sanguankeo, P., Cortat, G., Reardon, R.C., 2013. Efficacy and host specificity compared between two populations of the psyllid *Aphalara itadori*, candidates for biological control of invasive knotweeds in North America. Biol. Control 65, 53–62. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2013.01.001
- Groeneveld, E., Belzile, F., Lavoie, C., 2014. Sexual reproduction of Japanese knotweed (*Fallopia japonica* s.l.) at its northern distribution limit: new evidence of the effect of climate warming on an invasive species. Am. J. Bot. 101, 459–66. doi:10.3732/ajb.1300386
- Gucker, Corey L. 2008. *Frangula alnus*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/ [2017, February 6].
- Gucker, Corey L. 2009. *Cirsium palustre*. In: Fire Effects Information System. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory. Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/. (Accessed: January 16, 2017).
- Hazelton, E.L.G., Mozdzer, T.J., Burdick, D.M., Kettenring, K.M., Whigham, D.F., 2014. *Phragmites australis* management in the United States: 40 years of methods and outcomes. AoB Plants. Vol 6: Special Issue. doi:10.1093/aobpla/plu001
- Harris, P. T., G. H. Cannon, N. E. Smith, N. Z. Muth. 2014. Assessment of plant community restoration following tree-of-heaven (*Ailanthus altissima*) control by *Verticillium alba-atrum*. Biological Invasions, vol 14: 1887-1893.
- Heidorn, Randy. 1991. Vegetation management guideline: exotic buckthorns--common buckthorn, glossy buckthorn, and dahurian buckthorn. Natural Areas Journal. 11(4): 216-217.

- Heinken T, and D. Raudnitschka. 2002. Do wild ungulates contribute to the dispersal of vascular plants in Central European Forests by epizoochory? A case study in NE Germany. Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt 121:179-194
- Henderson, Richard A. 1990. Controlling reed canary grass in a degraded oak savanna. Restoration & Management Notes. 8(2): 123-124.
- Hollingsworth, M.L. and J.P. Bailey. 2000. Evidence for massive clonal growth in the invasive weed *Fallopia japonica* (Japanese Knotweed). Bot. J. Linn. Soc. 133, 463–472. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8339.2000.tb01589.x
- Hoffman, Randy; Kearns, Kelly, eds. 1997. Tatarian honeysuckle (*Lonicera tatarica*), Morrow's honeysuckle (*Lonicera morrowii*), Bella honeysuckle (*Lonicera x bella*). In: Wisconsin manual of control recommendations for ecologically invasive plants, [Online]. Madison, WI: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Bureau of Endangered Resources (Producer). Available: http://www.dnr.state.wi.us/org/land/er/invasive/factsheets/honeysuckles.htm. (Accessed Feb 1 2017).
- Howe, Henry F. 1995. Succession and fire season in experimental prairie plantings. Ecology. 76(6): 1917-1925.
- Howe, Henry F. 2000. Grass response to seasonal burns in experimental plantings. Journal of Range Management. 53(4): 437-441.
- Hæggström CA, R. Skytén. 1996. Flowering and individual survival of a population of the grass *Brachypodium sylvaticum* in Nåtö, Åland Islands, SW Finland. Annales Botanici Finnici 33:1-10.
- Ianone BV, Galatowitsch SM, Rosen CJ. 2008. Evaluation of resource-limiting strategies intended to prevent *Phalaris aruninacea* (reed canarygrass) invasions in restored sedge meadows, Ecoscience, vol. 15 (pg. 508-518).
- Jakubowski, A. R., R. D. Jackson, & M. D. Casler. 2014. History of Reed Canarygrass in North America: Persistence of Natives among Invading Eurasian Populations. Crop Sci. 54: 210–219.
- Katovich, Elizabeth, and Roger Becker. 2014. Garlic mustard biological control: Developing biological control insects, working towards field release. Report to the Legislative-Citizen Commission on Minnesota Resources. Department of Agronomy and Plant Genetics, University of Minnesota. Avaiable: http://www.lccmr.leg.mn/projects/2010/finals/2010_06a_rpt_developing-garlic-mustard-biocontrol.pdf. (Accessed Jan 24, 2017).
- Kasson, M.T., O'Neal, E.S., Davis, D.D., 2015. Expanded Host Range Testing for *Verticillium nonalfalfae*: Potential Biocontrol Agent Against the Invasive *Ailanthus altissima*. Plant Dis. 99, 823–835. doi:10.1094/PDIS-04-14-0391-RE.
- Kasson, M.T., Short, D.P.G., O'Neal, E.S., Subbarao, K. V., Davis, D.D., 2014. Comparative Pathogenicity, Biocontrol Efficacy, and Multilocus Sequence Typing of *Verticillium nonalfalfae* from the Invasive *Ailanthus altissima* and Other Hosts. Phytopathology 104, 282–292. doi:10.1094/PHYTO-06-13-0148-R.
- Kaufman, S.R. and W. Kaufman. 2007. Invasive plants: a guide to identification and the impacts and control of common North American species. Stackpole Books, Mechanicsburg, PA. 458 p.

- Kim, Kee Dae; Ewing, Kern; Giblin, David E. 2006. Controlling *Phalaris arundinacea* (reed canarygrass) with live willow stakes: a density-dependent response. Ecological Engineering. 27(3): 219-227.
- Kiviat E. 2006. *Phragmites* management sourcebook for the Tidal Hudson River. Report to the Hudson River Foundation, New York. Hudsonia Ltd., Annandale, NY. pg. 74.
- Kettenring KM, McCormick MK, Baron HM, Whigham DF. 2011. Mechanisms of *Phragmites australis* invasion: feedbacks among genetic diversity, nutrients, and sexual reproduction. Journal of Applied Ecology, vol. 48 (pg. 1305-1313).
- Kline, V. M. 1986. Effects of mowing on wild parsnip: six year study (Wisconsin). Restor. Manage. Notes 4:82–83.
- Kline, Virginia M.; McClintock, Tom. 1994. Effect of burning on a dry oak forest infested with woody exotics. In: Wickett, Robert G.; Lewis, Patricia Dolan; Woodliffe, Allen; Pratt, Paul, eds. Spirit of the land, our prairie legacy: Proceedings, 13th North American prairie conference; 1992 August 6-9; Windsor, ON. Windsor, ON: Department of Parks and Recreation: 207-213. [24695]
- Knight, T.M., Dunn, J.L., Smith, L.A., Davis, J. and Kalisz, S., 2009. Deer facilitate invasive plant success in a Pennsylvania forest understory. Natural Areas Journal, 29(2), pp.110-116.
- Kraushar, Matt, Glenn Nice, Zachary Lowe, Robert Chapman, and Brian MacGowan. 2012. Control of Canada thistle in CRP and other noncrop acreage. Report: FNR-436-W. Purdue University Forestry and Natural Resources. Available: https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/FNR/FNR-436-W.pdf. (Accessed January 18, 2017).
- Laatsch, Janeen R.; Anderson, Roger C. 2000. An evaluation of oak woodland management in northeastern Illinois, USA. Natural Areas Journal. 20(3): 211-220.
- Landis, Doug, and Jeff Evans. 2016. Integrated Pest Management: Garlic mustard. Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development Pesticide and Plant Pest Management Division and Department of Entomology, Michigan State University. Available:

 http://www.ipm.msu.edu/invasive_species/garlic_mustard/management_options. (Accessed January 24, 2017).
- Lavergne, Sebastien; Molofsky, Jane. 2007. Increased genetic variation and evolutionary potential drive the success of an invasive grass. Proceedings, National Academy of Science. 104(10): 3883-3888.
- Leicht, S.A., Silander, J.A., 2006. Differential responses of invasive *Celastrus orbiculatus* (*Celastraceae*) and native *C. scandens* to changes in light quality. Am. J. Bot. 93, 972–7. doi:10.3732/ajb.93.7.972.
- Lewis, Kevin; McCarthy, Brian. 2008. Nontarget tree mortality after tree-of-heaven (*Ailanthus altissima*) injection with imazapyr. Northern Journal of Applied Forestry. 25(2): 66-72.
- Lym, Rodney, and Andrea Travnicek. 2015. Identification and Control of Invasive and Troublesome Weeds in North Dakota. North Dakota Extension Service, North Dakota Department of Agriculture, and U.S. Forest Service.
- Luken, James O. 1990. Forest and pasture communities respond differently to cutting of exotic Amur honeysuckle. Restoration & Management Notes. 8(2): 122-123.

- MacDougall, A.S. and Turkington, R., 2005. Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? Ecology, 86(1), pp.42-55.
- Marks M, Lapin B, Randall J. 1994. *Phragmites australis (P. communis)*: threats, management and monitoring. Natural Areas Journal, vol. 14 (pg. 285-294).
- MBWSR (Minnesota Board of Water and Soil Resources). 2015. What's Working: Invasive Species Contol. Available:

 http://www.bwsr.state.mn.us/practices/whats_working/invasive/common_and_glossy_buckthorn_control.pdf. (Accessed Feb 6 2017).
- McAvoy, T.J., Kok, L.T. and Johnson, N., 2016. A multiyear year study of three plant communities with purple loosestrife and biological control agents in Virginia. *Biological Control*, *94*, pp.62-73.
- McKay, J.K., Christian, C.E., Harrison, S. and Rice, K.J., 2005. "How local is local?"—a review of practical and conceptual issues in the genetics of restoration. Restoration Ecology, 13(3), pp.432-440.
- MDC (Missouri Department of Conservation). 2017. Problem Plant Control: Invasive Plants. Available: https://mdc.mo.gov/trees-plants/problem-plant-control/invasive-plants. (Accessed January 17 2017).
- MDEQ (Michigan Department of Environmental Quality). No Date. A Landownder's Guide to Phragmites Control. Office of the Great Lakes, MDEQ, and Michigan Coastal Management Program, and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Available: http://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/deq-ogl-Guide-Phragmites_204659_7.pdf (Accessed January 20, 2017).
- MDNR (Michigan Department of Natural Resources). 2012. Best Control Practice Guides. Lansing, Michigan. Available: http://mnfi.anr.msu.edu/invasive-species/best-control-practice-guides.cfm (Accessed January 23, 2017).
- Medan, Diego. 1994. Reproductive biology of *Frangula alnus* (*Rhamnaceae*) in southern Spain. Plant Systematics and Evolution. 193(1-4): 173-186.
- MNFI (Michigan Natural Features Inventory). 2009. A Field Identification Guide to Invasive Plants in Michigan's Natural Communities. Edited by Kim Borland, Suzan Campbell, Rebecca Schillo, and Phyllis Higman. Michigan State University, Lansing.
- Moriarty, John. 2005. Conventional management of buckthorn species. In: Skinner, Luke C., ed. Proceedings: symposium on the biology, ecology, and management of garlic mustard (*Alliaria petiolata*) and European buckthorn (*Rhamnus cathartica*). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Health Technology Enterprise Team; Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, St. Paul. 53-54 pp.
- Mueller, Irene M. 1941. An experimental study of rhizomes of certain prairie plants. Ecological Monographs. 11: 165-188.
- Munger, Gregory T. 2002. *Lythrum salicaria*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences

- Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/plants/forb/lytsal/all.html [2017, January 31].
- Munger, Gregory T. 2003. *Elaeagnus umbellata*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/ [2017, January 31].
- Neumann, David D.; Dickmann, Donald I. 2001. Surface burning in a mature stand of *Pinus resinosa* and *Pinus strobus* in Michigan: effects on understory vegetation. International Journal of Wildland Fire. 10: 91-101.
- Nordin, Lisa. 2002. Invasive species to watch for: *Cirsium palustre*. Menziesia. Vancouver, BC: Newsletter of the Native Plant Society of British Columbia. 7(4): 6-7.
- Norland, J., Wang, G., Dixon, C., 2013. Reduced Establishment of Canada Thistle (*Cirsium arvense*) Using Functionally Similar Native Forbs. Ecol. Restor. 31:2, 143–146. doi:10.3368/er.31.2.143
- NRCS Job Sheet NH-314. Brush Management Invasive Plant Control. Multiflora Rose *Rosa multiflora*. Conservation Practice Job Sheet. Natural Resource Conservation Service.
- Nuzzo, V. A. 1991. Experimental control of garlic mustard [*Alliaria petiolata* (Bieb.) Cavara & Grande] in northern Illinois using fire, herbicide, and cutting. Natural Areas Journal Vol. 11:3, 158-167.
- Nyboer, Randy. 1992. Vegetation management guideline: bush honeysuckles--tatarian, Marrow's, belle, amur honeysuckle. Natural Areas Journal. 12(4): 218-219.
- O'Neal, E.S., Davis, D.D., 2015. Biocontrol of *Ailanthus altissima*: inoculation protocol and risk assessment for *Verticillium nonalfalfae* (*Plectosphaerellaceae: Phyllachorales*). Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 25, 950–969. doi:10.1080/09583157.2015.1023258
- ODA (Oregon Department of Agriculture). 2011. *Cheilosia corydon*. Noxious Weed Control. Plant Division. Available http://www.oregon.gov/ODA/PLANT/WEEDS/bio_profile_chco.shtml. (Accessed January 18, 2017).
- Packard, Steve. 1988. Just a few oddball species: restoration and the rediscovery of the tallgrass savanna. Restoration & Management Notes. 6(1): 13-22.
- Panetta, F. D. 2000. Fates of fruits and seeds of *Ligustrum lucidum* W. T. Ait. and *L. sinense* Lour. maintained under natural rainfall or irrigation. Australian Journal of Botany. 48(6): 701-705.
- Panke, Brendon, and Mark Renz. 2012. Hedge-parsleys (*Torilis spp.*). Management of Invasive Plants in Wisconsin (A3924-08). University of Wisconsin Extension Team Horticulture. Available: http://learningstore.uwex.edu/Assets/pdfs/A3924-08.pdf (Accessed: February 6, 2017).
- Pavlovic, N.B., Leicht-Young, S.A., Grundel, R., 2016. Oriental bittersweet (*Celastrus orbiculatus*): Spreading by fire. For. Ecol. Manage. 364, 183–194. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2015.12.036.
- Peter CR, Burdick DM. 2010. Can plant competition and diversity reduce the growth and survival of exotic *Phragmites australis* invading a tidal marsh? Estuaries and Coasts, vol. 33 (pg. 1225-1236).

- Phillips-Mao, Laura. 2012. Garlic Mustard (*Alliaria petiolata*) Invasion & Impacts: implications for management and restoration of woodland herbs. Retrieved from the University of Minnesota Digital Conservancy. Available: http://hdl.handle.net/11299/165059 (Accessed March 2 2017).
- Poulos, Lauren, and Bitty Roy. 2015. Fire and False Brome: How do prescribed fire and invasive *Brachypodium sylvaticum* affect each other? Invasive Plant Science and Management, 8(2):122-130. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1614/IPSM-D-14-00024.1.
- Remaley, T. and C. Bargeron. 2003. Southeast Exotic Pest Plant Council Invasive Plant Manual. Southeast Exotic Pest Plant Council. Available: http://www.invasive.org/eastern/eppc/introduction.html. (Accessed: February 23, 2009).
- Renz MJ, Heflin RM. 2014. Impact of clipping timing on Japanese hedgeparsley (*Torilis japonica*) seed production and viability. Invasive Plant Sci Manage. 7: In press. doi:10.1614/IPSM-D-13-00083.1.
- Roberts, K.J., Anderson, R.C., 2001. Effect of Garlic Mustard [*Alliaria petiolata* (Beib. Cavara & Grande)] Extracts on Plants and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal (AM) Fungi. Am. Midl. Nat. 146, 146–152. doi:10.1674/0003-0031.
- Ross, Merril. No Date. Control practices for Canada thistle. Department of Botany and Plant Pathology, Purdue University. Available: https://www.btny.purdue.edu/Pubs/WS/CanadaThistle/CanadaThistle.html (Accessed Jan 17, 2017).
- Rudd, L., R. Whitesides, K. Kettenring, E. Hazelton. Phragmites control at the urban-rural interface. Utah State University Extension and the Utah Dept. of Agriculture and Food, Salt Lake City.
- Schall, M.J., Davis, D.D., 2009. *Verticillium* Wilt of *Ailanthus altissima*: Susceptibility of Associated Tree Species. Plant Dis. 93, 1158–1162. doi:10.1094/PDIS-93-11-1158
- Scrivner, Bryn; Leach, Mark. 1998. Combination of prescribed burning and groundlayer planting stymies buckthorn reestablishment. Restoration and Management Notes. 16(1): 100-101.
- Seiger, L.A., Merchant, H.C. 1997. Mechanical control of Japanese knotweed (*Fallopia japonica* [Houtt.] Ronse Decraene): effects of cutting regime on rhizomatous reserves. Nat. Areas J. 17, 341–345.
- Simpson, Thomas B. 2009. Restoring native sedge meadow vegetation with a combination of herbicides (Illinois). Ecological Restoration. 27(2): 134-136.
- Sinclair, Adrianne; Catling, Paul. 1999. The value of cutting in the management of glossy buckthorn (*Rhamnus frangula* L.). The Wetland Journal. 11(2): 25-27.
- Smith SM. 2005. Manual control of *Phragmites australis* on pond shores of Cape Cod National Seashore, Massachusetts, USA, Journal of Aquatic Plant Management, vol. 43 (pg. 50-53).
- Smith, Tim E., ed. 2004. Vegetation management guideline: bush honeysuckles: Morrow's and Amur honeysuckle [*Lonicera morrowii* Gray and *L. maackii* (Rupr.) Maxim.], [Online]. In: Missouri vegetation management manual. Jefferson City, MO: Missouri Department of Conservation (Producer). Available: http://www.conservation.state.mo.us/nathis/exotic/vegman/six.htm.

- SEPPC (Southeast Exotic Pest Plant Council). 2003. Invasive Plant Manual: Privet *Ligustrum spp*. The Bugwood Network, University of Georgia. Available: http://se-eppc.org/manual/privet.html. (Accessed: Feb 16 2017).
- Soll, Jonathan. 2004. Controlling knotweed in the Pacific Northwest. The Nature Conservancy. Available: http://www.invasive.org/gist/moredocs/polspp01.pdf. (Accessed Feb 7 2017).
- Solecki, Mary Kay. 1997. Controlling invasive plants. In: Packard, Stephen; Mutel, Cornelia F., eds. The tallgrass restoration handbook: For prairies, savannas, and woodlands. Washington, DC: Island Press: 251-278.
- Stark, Craig. 2000. Control of *Elaeagnus umbellata* (Autumn olive). Restoration and Reclamation Student On-line Journal, vol. 6, no. 3. Available http://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/59732/6.3.Stark.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y. (Accessed Jan 31, 2017).
- Swearingen, Jil M. 2009a. Least Wanted: Oriental Bittersweet. Plant Conservation Alliance, Alien Plant Working Group. Reviewer: Glenn D. Dreyer. Available: https://www.nps.gov/plants/alien/fact/ceor1.htm. (Accessed January 23, 2017).
- Swearingen, Jil M. 2009b. Least Wanted: Purple Loosestrife. Plant Conservation Alliance, Alien Plant Working Group. Available: https://www.nps.gov/plants/alien/fact/lysa1.htm. (Accessed January 31, 2017).
- Swearingen, Jil and Philip D. Pannill. 2009. Least Wanted: Tree-of-heaven. Plant Conservation Alliance, Alien Plant Working Group. Available: https://www.nps.gov/plants/alien/fact/aial1.htm. (Accessed: January 23, 2017).
- Teal J.M. and S. Peterson. 2005. The interaction between science and policy in the control of *Phragmites* in oligohaline marshes of Delaware Bay, Restoration Ecology, 13:223-227.
- Thompson, Daniel Q., Ronald L. Stuckey, Edith B. Thompson. 1987. Spread, Impact, and Control of Purple Loosestrife (*Lythrum salicaria*) in North American Wetlands. Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center Online, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Jamestown, ND. 55 pp. http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/plants/loosstrf/index.htm (Version 04JUN99).
- Toole, E. H.; Brown, E. 1946. Final results of the Duvel buried seed experiment. Journal of Agricultural Research, 72: 201-210.
- Travnicek, A.J., R.G. Lym, C. Prosser. 2005. Fall-Prescribed Burn and Spring-Applied Herbicide Effects on Canada Thistle Control and Soil Seedbank in a Northern Mixed-Grass Prairie. Rangeland Ecology & Management, 58:413-422.
- Tu, Mandy; Hurd, Callie; Randall, John M., eds. 2001. Weed control methods handbook: tools and techniques for use in natural areas. The Nature Conservancy, Davis CA. 194 pp.
- USDA Forest Service, Missoula Fire Sciences Laboratory. 2012. Information from LANDFIRE on fire regimes of northern white-cedar swamps. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Missoula Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available:

- https://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/fire_regimes/Northern_whitecedar_swamp/all.html. (Accessed February 1, 2017).
- Waggy, Melissa, A. 2010. *Phalaris arundinacea*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/. (Accessed February 16, 2017).
- Waller, D.M. and Maas, L.I., 2013. Do white-tailed deer and the exotic plant garlic mustard interact to affect the growth and persistence of native forest plants? Forest Ecology and Management, 304, pp.296-302.
- Ward, J.S., Williams, S.C., Worthley, T.E. 2010. Effectiveness of two-stage control strategies for Japanese barberry (*Berberis thunbergii*) varies by initial clump size. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 3, 60–69.
- Ward, J.S., S. Williams, T. Worthley. 2013a. Japanese Barberry Control Methods. Cooperative Extension System, University of Connecticut. Available:

 http://www.ct.gov/caes/lib/caes/documents/publications/special_bulletins/special_bulletin_feb_2013_ward.pdf. (Accessed January 24, 2017).
- Ward, J.S., S. Williams, T. Worthley. 2013b. Comparing Effectiveness and Impacts of Japanese Barberry (*Berberis thunbergii*) Control Treatments and Herbivory on Plant Communities. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 6, 456–469. doi:10.1614/IPSM-D-13-00004.1.
- Waterfield, H.S. 2013. Dynamics of *Galerucella* spp. and purple loosestrife (*Lythrum salicaria*) in Goodyear Swamp Sanctuary. Goodyear Swamp Sanctuary Summer 2013 Update. Available: http://www.oneonta.edu/ACADEMICS/BIOFLD/PUBS/ANNUAL/2013/24-GoodyearSwamp-biocontrol-2013.pdf. (Accessed February 1 2017).
- Wilcox, Julia C., Healy, Michael T., Zedler, Michael T. 2007. Restoring native vegetation to an urban wet meadow dominated by reed canarygrass (*Phaliaris arundinacea* L.) in Wisconsin. Natural Areas Journal. 27(4): 354-365.
- Windam, M., A. Windhan, F. Hale and J. Amrine, Jr. No Date. Observations on Rose Rosette Disease. University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture. Available: http://www.egardengate.com/pdfs/roserosettedisease.pdf. (Accessed Jan 30, 2017).
- WDNR (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources). 2004. Fact sheet: European marsh thistle (*Cirsium palustre*). In: Invasive plant species--Species information: plants. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Madison. Available: http://dnr.wi.gov/invasives/fact/thistle EMarsh.htm.
- Wooten, Jessica. 2013. Techniques to suppress invasive oriental bittersweet (*Celastrus orbiculatus*) on Presque Isle State Park in Erie, Pennsylvania. Master's Thesis. Department of Biology, University of New York, Fredonia. Available:

 https://dspace.sunyconnect.suny.edu/bitstream/handle/1951/61528/Wooten,%20Jessica%20-%20thesis%20-%20May%202013_Redacted.pdf?sequence=3. (Accessed January 23, 2017).
- Vander Mijnsbrugge, K., Bischoff, A. and Smith, B., 2010. A question of origin: where and how to collect seed for ecological restoration. Basic and Applied Ecology, 11(4), pp.300-311.

Zouhar, Kris. 2011. *Rhamnus cathartica*, *R. davurica*. In: Fire Effects Information System, [Online]. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory (Producer). Available: http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/. (Accessed: February 2, 2017).